Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

ELSEVIER



Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Understanding morphological evolution and sediment dynamics at multitime scales helps balance human activities and protect coastal ecosystems: An example with the Gironde and Pertuis Marine Park



A. Schmitt *, E. Chaumillon

UMR 7266 LIENSs CNRS La Rochelle University, France

HIGHLIGHTS

G R A P H I C A L A B S T R A C T

- Complex interactions occur between sedimentary coastal ecosystems and human activities.
- Deep knowledge of sediment dynamic is needed to manage human activities and sedimentary coastal ecosystems preservation.
- Our main recommendation is to reduce instabilities (positive feed-back) and negative side effects.
- Ecosystem-based solutions are strongly recommended.

ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Fernando A.L. Pacheco

Keywords: Marine protected area Land reclamation Shellfish farming Coastal management Dredging Sand mining



ABSTRACT

Finding a balance between the preservation of habitat, species and the sustainable development of human activities in Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) is made even more challenging in coastal areas where sediment dynamics entails naturally changing habitats. To achieve this goal, a solid knowledge base is needed, and reviews are essential. Starting from an extensive review of sediment dynamics and coastal evolution at three-time scales (from millenaries to events), in the Gironde and Pertuis Marine Park (GPMP, French Atlantic coast), we investigated the interactions between human activities, sediment dynamics and morphological evolution in the GPMP. Five activities were identified as having a maximum interaction with coastal dynamics: Land reclamation, shellfish farming, coastal defences, dredging and sand mining. In sheltered areas, where natural sediment fill occurs, land reclamation and shellfish farming increase sedimentation through a positive feedback mechanism, leading to instability. Natural coastal erosion and sediment fill in harbours and tidal channels are fought by coastal defences and dredging, respectively, creating negative feedback and stability. However, these activities also generate negative side effects such as upper beach erosion, pollution, and increased turbidity. Sand mining, mainly developed in submarine incised valleys, results in a deepening of the sea floor, which is naturally filled by sediments from surrounding areas, tending towards shoreface profile restoration. However, sand extraction exceeds natural renewal rates, and may impact the stability of coastal ecosystems in the long term. These activities are at the heart of environmental management and preservation issues. This review and a discussion of the interactions between human activities and coastal behaviour enabled us to make recommendations that could counteract instabilities and negative side effects. They mainly include depolderization, strategic retreat, optimization and sufficiency. Given the diversity of the coastal environments and human activities found in the GPMP, this work is transferable to many MPAs and coastal areas whose objective is to foster sustainable human activities compatible with habitat preservation.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: anais.schmitt@univ-lr.fr (A. Schmitt).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.163819 Received 30 January 2023; Received in revised form 24 April 2023; Accepted 25 April 2023 Available online 1 May 2023 0048-9697/© 2023 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	1. Introduction								
2.	The st	The study area setting							
	2.1.	Geography and coastal environments							
	2.2.	Hydrodynamics							
		2.2.1. Tides							
		2.2.2. Waves							
		2.2.3. Rivers							
	2.3.	Human activities							
3.	Metho	pds							
	3.1.	Synthesis methodology							
	3.2.	Unpublished data							
		3.2.1. Bathymetry							
		3.2.2. Lidar							
4.	Result	ts: synthesis of morphological evolution and sediment dynamics within the GPMP at three time scales							
	4.1.	Long time scale evolution (millenary)							
	4.2.	Medium time scale evolution (secular)							
	4.3.	Short time scale (decennial)							
	4.4.	Forcing parameters of sediment and shoreline dynamics.							
5.	Discus	ssion: human activities and habitat preservation within the GPMP in the light of morphological evolution and sediment dynamics at different time scales 7							
	5.1.	Management of land-reclaimed areas							
	5.2.	Management of coasts vulnerable to erosion							
	5.3.	Harbour development and dredging							
	5.4.	Management of Shellfish farms							
	5.5.	Management of sand mining areas							
6.	Concl	usion							
CRe	liT autl	horship contribution statement							
Data availability									
Declaration of competing interest									
Acknowledgements									
References									

1. Introduction

Today's erosion in biodiversity is mainly related to habitat loss (Ceballos et al., 2015) and there is indeed a need for protecting coastal marine habitats that support some of the most productive and valuable ecosystems of the world (Costanza et al., 1997; Pörtner et al., 2019). In this context, Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) have been created worldwide and their number is increasing exponentially (Edgar et al., 2007; Mazaris et al., 2019). The OSPAR Commission (1998) designated an MPA as "an area situated in the maritime area for which protection, conservation, restoration or precautionary measures, in accordance with international law, have been instituted for the purpose of protecting and conserving species, habitats, ecosystems or ecological processes of the marine environment". These areas are increasingly being promoted as an ocean-based tool for climate change mitigation and adaptation (Jacquemont et al., 2022). MPAs are generally designated and created on the individual initiative of states; they comprise several legal categories with varying scope and effectiveness under both international and domestic laws. Under French Law, there are 9 legal categories of MPAs in metropolitan France that are designated on the basis of their type of management (Article L 334-1 of the French environmental code). The legal category of Marine Natural Parks was created in 2006. The aim of this category is: (1) to preserve the marine environment; (2) improve knowledge; and (3) contribute to the sustainable development of maritime activities (Article L 334-3 of the French environmental code). Thus, a Marine Natural Park is multi-use and includes commercial areas such as fishing, mining and drilling, managed so as to achieve specific sustainable use and conservation objectives (Art. 1, CBD, 1992). Today there are eight Marine Natural Parks in France.

This review focuses on the Marine Natural Park named "*Parc Naturel Marin de l'Estuaire de la Gironde et de la Mer des Pertuis*" (Fig. 1; ID: 555589788 in the World Database on Protected Areas), referred to here as the "Gironde and Pertuis Marine Park" (GPMP) (Lafon, 2017). It is the largest park in metropolitan France, considering temperate estuarine

settings, and it includes a wide diversity of coastal habitats and human activities. As such, it constitutes a reference site for the management of coastal environment protection and human activities. Coastal marine sedimentary habitat stability depends on the balance between sediment input and output. Due to the estuarine context of the GPMP, sediment diversity (Poirier et al., 2010) and shoreline changes are very important (Castelle et al., 2018). Together with variations in salinity and water depth, sediment dynamics set strong constraints on coastal ecosystems. Sedimentation directly impacts nearshore ecosystems where increasing sediment loads lead to the burial of benthic communities and increasing water turbidity, reducing light penetration and leading to numerous associated negative effects (Thrush et al., 2004). Increasing sedimentation is also a major problem for many coastal ecosystems like rocky reefs (Airoldi, 2003), sea-grass systems (Orth et al., 2006) and soft sediment communities (Thrush et al., 2004). Erosion mainly impacts coastal ecosystems developing along sandy barriers (Martínez and Psuty, 2008; Castelle et al., 2019; Gao et al., 2020). Sediment dynamics is under the control of both natural processes and increasing human activities. Moreover, estuarine environments are highly vulnerable to climate change (Yang et al., 2015). Indeed, sea level rise could lead to an increase in salinity levels and cause tidal amplification, stronger tidal currents and enhanced suspended sediment concentration levels (Van Maanen and Sottolichio, 2018). Another serious impact related to climate change is the increase or decrease in fluvial freshwater input (Boé et al., 2009; Le Treut, 2013).

Thus, a general key question for MPA management is "How do we reconcile environmental protection and the development of human activities in a context of climate change and biodiversity erosion?". This question becomes critical in coastal areas dominated by sedimentary coasts that are strongly impacted by human activities and likely to be significantly transformed by sea level rise and climate change. In the context of a highly dynamic coastal zone, the first step that needs to be taken in order to answer this general question is to produce a synthetic and shared report, accessible to all the stakeholders involved. Thus, the aim of this review is to



Fig. 1. General setting maps showing: A) GPMP boundaries (corresponding to the -50 m isobath offshore and to the shoreline and inner limits of the estuaries), the bathymetry and the location names used in this review; B) Main submarine habitats (rocky, sandy, muddy) and figure locations; C) Main Human activities in the GPMP.

synthesize, for the first time, the available knowledge on the complex morphological evolution and sediment dynamics that occur in the mixed rocky and sedimentary estuaries of the GPMP. Based on this synthesis, we will show how natural processes and human activities interact in this complex coastal system with several feedback loops acting at different time scales. Given the diversity of ecosystems, natural processes and human activities interacting in this marine park, this study may serve as a reference for the management of ecosystem preservation and human activities in MPAs with significant sediment dynamics and morphological changes.

2. The study area setting

2.1. Geography and coastal environments

The GPMP faces the Atlantic continental margin (Bay of Biscay), a sediment-starved margin where modern sediment input is mainly delivered by two large rivers, the Loire and the Gironde, with about 0.6 to $1.5.10^6$ t/ yr of suspended load respectively (Jouanneau et al., 1999). Covering an area of 6500 km², it is located on the French Atlantic coast between the mouth of the Payré Estuary, to the north, and the Négade point, to the south (Fig. 1.A). The Park is limited to the east by a complex 1100 km-long shoreline including 6 estuaries, from north to south: Payré, Lay, Sèvre-Niortaise, Charente, Seudre and Gironde. The offshore GPMP boundary corresponds to the - 50 m isobath, and thus includes the inner shelf and the shoreface domain. There are 3 islands in the GPMP (Ré, Aix and Oléron, Fig. 1.A) with an alternation of exposed and sheltered areas. Between these islands and the continent lie elongated embayments and large inlets, locally named "Pertuis" (Pertuis Breton, Pertuis d'Antioche and Pertuis de

Maumusson, Fig. 1.A). Thus, this coastal area displays a huge diversity of sediment environments, including wave-dominated coasts (barriers attached to the continent and sandspits), tide-dominated coasts (tidal bays, wide tidal flats and salt marshes, tidal channels and sandbars) and mixed tide and wave dominated coasts (tidal inlets and estuary mouths). Such a complex coastal environment, with intermingled rocky, sandy and muddy substrates, where there are fast sediment dynamics, is a place of wide diversity in coastal habitats and ecosystems (Fig. 1.B).

2.2. Hydrodynamics

2.2.1. Tides

Tides in the GPMP are semi-diurnal with small diurnal asymmetries. The tidal range at the coast varies from 1 m during neap tides to >6.5 m during spring tides, with an annual mean of around 3.75 m in La Rochelle Harbour; a large part of the GPMP can therefore be considered as macrotidal (Dodet et al., 2019a). Tidal currents are locally strong, with velocities exceeding 2 m/s in tidal inlets (Bertin et al., 2005) and near capes. The two largest estuaries in the park, the Gironde and the Charente, are hypersynchronous, meaning an increasing tidal range within the estuary (Allen et al., 1980; Allen, 1991; Toublanc et al., 2015).

2.2.2. Waves

The Bay of Biscay is exposed to the large waves generated in the North Atlantic Ocean (annual mean wave height of 1 to 2 m; peak period of 6 to 12 s; mean direction from WSW to WNW). The wave climate is characterized by a strong seasonal variability, with higher waves during winter and storm waves exceeding 10 m by 50 m water depths (Bertin et al., 2015; Dodet et al., 2019b). Wave heights of 6 m have been measured at the breaker along the coast (Guérin et al., 2018; Pezerat et al., 2022). A general southward net littoral drift occurs along north-south coasts owing to the N280 dominant wave direction. Nevertheless, due to the complex shoreline morphology, the local net littoral drift displays significant direction variability. Storms regularly hit the study area, with about 60 storms since 1924 (Breilh et al., 2014). They are more frequent and intense in autumnwinter (Breilh et al., 2014; Castelle et al., 2015). They can generate massive erosion (Chaumillon et al., 2019b) and coastal flooding (Bertin et al., 2014; Baumann et al., 2017a; Chaumillon et al., 2017).

2.2.3. Rivers

Seven rivers contribute to freshwater input into the GPMP (Fig. 1.A, Table 1) with variable seasonal flows (high river flow in winter and low river flow in summer).

2.3. Human activities

Over the centuries, the estuarine environments of the GPMP were ideal places for many human activities. Starting in the Middle Ages, episodes of deforestation occurred between 1300 and 1950 (Lesueur et al., 1996; Dinis et al., 2006; Poirier et al., 2011) and land reclamation between 1600 and 1965 shaped the coastline (Pawlowski, 1998; Pontee et al., 1998). Massive exploitation of salt marshes was initiated with salt production and continues today with oyster, mussel and shrimp farms. The complex coastline morphology of the GPMP being advantageous for military and commercial development, there are four international harbours (Bordeaux, Rochefort sur Mer, La Rochelle, Les Sables d'Olonne). The increase in frequentation and boat size led to an intensification of navigation and a need to maintain accessibility conditions through dredging (1930-currently) (Fig. 1.C). Along the coast, demography increased during the 19th and 20th centuries. In Charente Maritime, for example, the number of permanent residents increased from 438,042 in 1791 to 651,358 in 2019, with a concentration in cities and along the coast (INSEE). In addition, the population triples during the tourist season (July-August). The attractiveness of this coastal zone is associated with numerous infrastructures that in the main began to appear in the 1960's. >20 % of the GPMP coastline is currently artificial and more than half of this artificial coastline corresponds to coastline defences. The progression of urbanization is associated with the intensification of resource exploitation including fishing, shellfish farming and marine sand mining in 3 areas, and an intensification of recreational activities (fishing and yachting) (Fig. 1.A).

3. Methods

3.1. Synthesis methodology

We conducted a comprehensive search of the peer-reviewed scientific literature and grey literature to compile a database documenting the morphological evolution and sediment dynamics in the GPMP. In total 300 scientific papers, 20 theses, 50 study reports and 4 books were used to create a synthesis for the park (https://plan-gestion.parc-marin-gironde-pertuis.fr/drupal/sites/

Table 1

Rivers flowing into the GPMP. Data of th	e draining area,	lengths and fresl	nwater riv-
ers flows in 2016 (Banque hydro 2018).			

Rivers		Drainage area (km²)	Length (km)	High – Mean – Low River flow (m ³ /s)
Gironde estuary	Garonne	56,000	647	5400-650-110
	Dordogne	23,900	483	1700-340-49
Charente		9526	381	370-30-1.70
Sèvre Niortaise		4130	160	160-11.6-1.3
Lay		1970	142	200-9-0.09
Seudre		775	68	8.4-0.9-0.02
Payré		154	21	9-0.49-0.01

default/files/2023-01/CELHYSE_synthese_LRUniversite_PNMEGMP_Jan2023. pdf).

In addition, we used unpublished data to better restrict the specific coastal sedimentary evolution. Given that morphological evolution and sediment dynamics are controlled by various forcing parameters (sea level change, climate, hydrodynamics, human activities) acting at different time scales, we organized the synthesis along 3 time scales: (1) the geological or long time scale (millenaries to centuries); (2) the engineering or medium time scale (centuries to decades); (3) a short time scale (years to days including short-time events). Based on available data, the transition between the long-term and medium-term time scales corresponds to the year 1850 and the transition between the medium-term and short-term time scales corresponds to the year 1999.

3.2. Unpublished data

Bathymetric data were collected within three key-areas for sediment dynamics and human activities: the Chassiron sand mining area, the Maumusson Inlet and Aiguillon Cove (Fig. 1.B).

3.2.1. Bathymetry

The bathymetry in the Chassiron area (Fig. 3) was collected in 2016 and 2019 (CREOCEAN, 2020). Bathymetric measurements were recorded with a R2Sonic 2022 multi-beam bathymetric echosounder coupled with an RTK GPS positioning system (Proflex800) and a motion unit (Coda Octopus F185R +). The bathymetric data were collected at a 200 KHz frequency and a maximum swath of 140°. Hypack software was used for data acquisition, calibration (roll, pitch and yaw) and processing (cleaning, positioning using RTK data and motion sensor, sound velocity correction and triangulation). Digital Terrain Modeling (DTM) with 2 m grid-node was conducted for each dataset.

The bathymetry in the Maumusson Inlet (Fig. 5) was collected during the EMEMO-17 (2017) and EMEMO-18 (2018) cruises on board R/V Haliotis. Bathymetric measurements were recorded with an interferometric sonar coupled with a GPS HDS800. Processing included removing of reflections in the water, tide and vertical reference correction. The data were validated with adjacent profiles and intertidal topographic measurements. Repetitive bathymetric profiles were recorded in the same position to evidence seafloor evolution during time periods of 7 days and 1 year. On the basis of these data, two 1 m mesh DTM (Digital Terrain Model) were generated for years 2017 and 2018.

3.2.2. Lidar

The bathymetry of the Aiguillon Cove (Fig. 4) was collected by IFREMER in 2000 (Populus et al., 2001) and OPSIA in 2021. For the new 2021 Lidar survey, a RIEGL VQ-780 II airborne laser scanner coupled to a GPS was used, at flight heights of between 750 and 1650 m, for the acquisition of the 3D point cloud. After processing, including classification and interpolation, a DTM (Digital Terrain Model) was generated at the centimetre resolution.

4. Results: synthesis of morphological evolution and sediment dynamics within the GPMP at three time scales

We will first present a bibliography-based synthesis of the morphological evolution and sediment dynamics within the GPMP at long, medium and short time scales (Fig. 2.A.B-C.). From this synthesis, we will highlight the natural forcing parameters controlling GPMP evolution.

4.1. Long time scale evolution (millenary)

Extensive seismic exploration of the inner shelf and estuaries of the GPMP have revealed a series of four main incised valleys (IV) connected to major embayment, tidal inlets and estuaries (contour map of incised valleys on Fig. 2.A, Chaumillon et al., 2008b; Chaumillon and Weber, 2006; Weber et al., 2004a, 2004b; Lericolais et al., 2001). The complex



Fig. 2. Synthesis maps of submarine and shoreline morphological evolution within the GPMP at 3 times-scales: A) Long time-scale evolution and the contours of the main incised valleys; B) Medium time-scale evolution; C) Short time-scale evolution and main sediment pathways including littoral drift and suspended sediment transport.

geomorphology of the present-day shoreline of the GPMP, with a succession of islands, headlands and estuaries, is inherited from these wide (a few kilometers) and deep (a few meters) incisions. Onshore, these valleys extend beneath the coastal marshes (Poitevin Marsh, Rochefort Marsh Seudre Marsh and the Gironde Marsh, Fig. 2.A) where present-day rivers flow. Other marshes are located on secondary incised valleys. Most of these marshes are currently below the highest astronomical sea level and correspond to approximately 50 % of the GPMP coastline. These valley incisions taper approximatively 50 km offshore, below 40 to 70 m present-day sea-level (Lericolais et al., 2001; Chaumillon and Weber, 2006). This incision decrease is located where the shelf gradient decreases (Cirac et al., 2000), indicating that the seaward termination of the incision is mostly related to the shelf morphology (Chaumillon et al., 2008b).

Overall, the incised valley sediment fills consist of two main depocenters, with one offshore, located in the present-day inner shelf, and a second, located in the inner part of the bays and estuaries and extending below the coastal marshes (Chaumillon and Weber, 2006; Chaumillon et al., 2008a). Those two main depocenters are separated by valley segments where sediment fill is reduced or absent. The onshore depocenters, corresponding to the coastal sedimentary prism, include the marshes, barriers and estuary sediment fills (Fig. 2.A). Sand-dominated bodies include barriers located in wave-dominated environments. They also include tidal deltas and tidal sandbanks within tidal inlets and estuary mouths (mixed tide-and-wave environments). They are also in the form of tidal sandridges found in tidal channels and bay head delta (tide-dominated settings, Billy et al., 2012; Chaumillon et al., 2013). Mud-dominated sediment bodies are located within estuaries and tidal bay-fill (Allen and Posamentier, 1994; Allard et al., 2010; Poirier et al., 2011) and below present-day marshes (Baumann et al., 2017a). Fine-grained sediment supply increase is mainly recorded by a muddy drape, emplaced since the late 18th century (Poirier et al., 2011; Allard et al., 2010).

4.2. Medium time scale evolution (secular)

In the studied area, exposed coasts were arbitrarily defined as coasts where offshore wave height decrease is lower than 75 %. These coastlines and their seaward prolongation in the shoreface and inner continental shelf are considered to be exposed environments. Sheltered coasts were arbitrarily defined as coasts where offshore wave height decrease is higher than 75 % (Chaumillon et al., 2019b). These coastlines and their seaward prolongation are considered as being sheltered environments (Fig. 2.B). Areas belonging to both exposed and sheltered environments correspond to tidal inlets and estuary mouths connected to the Atlantic Ocean.

Most of the sandy shorelines located along exposed coasts and facing sandy shorefaces (Arvert and Médoc Peninsulas, Fig. 1.A) have narrowed during the last two centuries (Chaumillon et al., 2019b, Fig. 2.B). Maximum erosion rates have been observed on both sides of the Gironde estuary mouth. Erosion rates of -14 m/yr (period 1840–2016) and -35 m/yr (period 1785–1824) were observed in the southern Arvert Peninsula (Bertin and Chaumillon, 2005; Chaumillon et al., 2019b) and in the Médoc Peninsula (Négade Point, Levêque, 1936), respectively. In contrast, sandy barriers lying on intertidal or close to subtidal rocky outcrops (South Vendée Coast, Ré and northern Oléron Islands, Fig. 1.A) display moderate morphological changes. Most of the seafloor changes in the shoreface area at the medium time scale cannot be documented as historical bathymetric profiles are sparse. Locally, recent bathymetric profiles recorded along historical

profiles have shown shoreward migration of sand bodies in the western part of the Antioche Deep (Weber et al., 2004a, 2004b).

Sandy shorelines located on sheltered coasts include barriers attached to the shoreline and sandspits. Barriers attached to the shoreline are mostly stable in a cross-shore direction. Sandspits locally display high elongation rates over the last two centuries (Fig. 2.B). The Arçay Sandspit (Fig. 1.A) elongates at a mean rate of 28 m/yr (period 1811-1945, Allard et al., 2008, Fig. 2.B). Muddy shorelines located on sheltered coasts display significant changes. The Aiguillon Cove (Fig. 1.A) displays a fast shoreline modification (maximum seaward migration rate of 20 m/yr; Godet et al., 2015) and a significant mudflat vertical accretion (a few meters for the period 1824-1959 to 1983; Poirier et al., 2010). A seaward shoreline migration of up to 2 km was observed within the Marennes-Oléron Bay (Fig. 1.A) between 1824 and 1997 (about 11 m/yr, Bertin et al., 2005). Brouage (Fig. 1. A), the main trading harbour for salt during the 11th century, is actually 1 km farther from the shoreline, attesting to a significant seaward shoreline migration (Papy, 1935). These seaward coastline migrations are associated with high sedimentation rates within the intertidal flats and subtidal channels. A mean sedimentation rate of 46 mm/vr was calculated for the whole Marennes-Oléron Bay (period 1824-2003, Bertin et al., 2005). High sedimentation rates have also been observed in large parts of the Pertuis Breton and Pertuis d'Antioche (Poirier et al., 2010) and at the mouth of the Charente River (Bertin et al., 2005). Within the Gironde Estuary, areas of mud-dominated accretion and erosion have been evidenced (Sottolichio et al., 2013). The area of maximum volume of sediment accretion migrated upstream within the estuary (period 1962-1994).

The biggest morphological change was observed in the vicinity of the tidal inlets (South of Oléron Island, Bertin et al., 2004, 2005; Chaumillon et al., 2002, 2008b, 2019a, 2019b) and on both sides of the Gironde Estuary (Castelle et al., 2017) (Fig. 2.B). The elongated sandbanks located in the wide estuary mouths (Gironde Estuary mouth and northern Marennes-Oléron Bay) are also areas where rapid morphological changes have been observed. For example, the St Georges Bank displayed a sediment accretion of 90.10⁶ m³ between 1824 and 1994 (average sediment supply of 500,000 m³/yr; Bertin and Chaumillon, 2005).

4.3. Short time scale (decennial)

Most of the sandy shorelines located along exposed coasts and facing sandy shorefaces have retreated during the last two decades. Maximum erosion rates reaching 8 to 19 m/yr were observed in the south of Oléron Island (Baumann et al., 2017b; Chaumillon et al., 2019b) and at the west of the Médoc Peninsula (average of 4 m/yr; ARTELIA, 2012; Fig. 2.C). In contrast, exposed sandy barriers lying on intertidal or subtidal rocky outcrops (Ré and Oléron Islands and south Vendée, Fig. 1.A.B) display moderate erosion (< 4 m/yr) or are stable (< 2 m/yr). Longshore transport ranged from 50,000 to 140,000 m³/yr in SW Oléron Island (Bertin et al., 2008).

Successive bathymetric data show shoreface changes westward of the Oléron Island (Chassiron sand mining area, Figs. 1.B.C; 3). This area, located in the marine segment of the Charente incised-valley (Fig. 2.A), has a water depth ranging from -19 to -20 m below the lowest astronomical tides. The shoreface consists of a very gentle seaward slope and sand mining areas are revealed by 4 elongated deeps or pits (orientation E-W to WSW/ ENE), about 1 to 2.5 km long and 0.2 to 0.8 km wide. Their depth relative to the adjacent shoreface varies from 1 to 8 m, with a mean slope < 5 % (3°). Unlike the surrounding shoreface, the pits display large to very large subaqueous dunes (80 to 150 m wavelength, 0.5 to 1 m amplitude), their crest being mostly sub-perpendicular to the deep elongation. These dunes consist of fine sand (0.4 to 0.08 mm), also found in the shoreface, and lie on coarse and older units of the valley-fill (2 to 0.4 mm, Fig. 3; CREOCEAN, 2020; Weber et al., 2004b). These subaqueous dunes are asymmetric with the stoss face oriented to the east. Many furrows, approximatively 30 to 2500 m long and 0.1 m deep, are observed in pits and are related to sand mining (Fig. 3.D, Profil 1). The difference in bathymetric maps between 2016 and 2019 shows a deepening and widening of the extraction areas, more particularly the Chassiron B concession (Fig. 3.C). A shoreward migration of subaqueous

dunes was evidenced by alternation of erosion and accretion areas (Fig. 3.C; CREOCEAN, 2020). Focusing on the same dunes, observed in both the 2016 and 2019 data (Fig. 3.D Profil 2), their shoreward migration can be estimated at about 13 m/yr. Assuming that this sand migration is limited to the sand dune thickness (about 1 m), the dune migration rate can be converted into a minimum volume of local shoreward bedload sand transport corresponding to 4.10^{-4} kg/m/s. It should be noted that the total flow of transported sediment is considerably higher given the suspended load transport, which is dominant in this area (Pezerat, 2022). Hydrodynamic measurements conducted in November 2002 close to this area (Idier et al., 2006) showed strong residual currents generated by waves, tides and winds (> 1 m/s) near the seabed, by 23 m of water depth. The shoreward sediment transport flux was estimated to be 0.15 kg/m/s (Idier et al., 2006).

Sandy attached barriers and sandspits located on sheltered coasts are mostly stable or show a local sediment accretion (Chaumillon et al., 2019b; Fig. 2.C). Arçay sandspit elongation reached a mean rate of 22 m/yr between 1945 and 2005 (Allard et al., 2008), which can be explained by an annual longshore transport ranging from 80,000 to 131,000 m³ (Bertin et al., 2007; Allard et al., 2008). Very large subaqueous dunes (150 to 400 m wavelength, 2 to 8 m Amplitude) observed in the eastern Antioche Deep are asymmetric and show sand transport convergence driven by ebb and flood tidal currents (Weber and Chaumillon, 2004).

Most shorelines bordering muddy sheltered coasts correspond to hard defences, and are therefore stable. Sheltered mud flats are areas of high siltation on a short time scale. An example is given by the Aiguillon Cove where Lidar measurements in 2000 and 2021 evidenced a mean sediment gain of 262,000 m^3 /yr in mudflats, corresponding to a vertical accretion rate of 1.32 cm/yr (Fig. 3). Similarly, the mudflats of the Marennes-Oléron Bay display a positive sediment budget (Bertin et al., 2005; Bertin and Chaumillon, 2006). Fine sedimentation within this bay originates from both the Gironde Estuary (Fig. 2.C, Froidefond et al., 1998; Dabrin, 2009) and from the nearby Charente River, with a suspended matter supply reaching 100,000 t in 3 months (Le Hir et al., 2010).

Within the Gironde estuary, suspended matter input has been estimated at 3.10^6 t/yr (Lesueur and Tastet, 1994; Schäfer et al., 2002; Dabrin et al., 2014). The Gironde sediment fill is prevented by extensive dredging to maintain the navigation channel. The zone of maximum turbidity (concentration > 3000 g/m³) migrates shoreward in summer and seaward in winter, as a function of the change in the river flow. During flooding periods, this turbid zone is expulsed towards the continental shelf ($1.6.10^6$ t/yr) (Froidefond et al., 1998; Doxaran et al., 2009). The riverine sediment supply from the Gironde Estuary to the continent shelf is estimated to contribute 60 % of fine sediment input into the Bay of Biscay and to settle in the so-called Gironde mudflat (Lesueur et al., 2002). The potential supply of sediment from the Gironde estuary towards the Marennes-Oleron bay ranges from 800 to 2000 t/day.

As for the medium time scale, the largest morphological change in both shorelines and seafloor was observed in the vicinity of the tidal inlets and exposed estuary mouths (Castelle et al., 2018). In recent decades the highest erosion rates along exposed coasts were observed in south Oléron Island, updrift of the Maumusson Inlet (Chaumillon et al., 2019b). High resolution bathymetry data captured the intense sediment dynamics within this large tidal inlet (Fig. 5). Subaqueous dunes, with wavelengths ranging from <10 m to >100 m, were evidenced in the main inlet channel and on the flood delta (Fig. 5). Repetitive bathymetric surveys conducted in 2017 showed that some of these dunes migrate at a rate ranging from <1 m to 1.5 m/day (Fig. 5.D). The different bathymetric maps produced between 2017 and 2018 show a tidal channel migration of about 300 m to the south and an alternation of the erosion and accretion areas within the tidal inlet indicating the displacement of subaqueous dunes (Fig. 5.C).

4.4. Forcing parameters of sediment and shoreline dynamics

Studies of the sedimentary and morphological evolution in the GPMP on long, medium and short time scales evidenced the main controlling parameters of this evolution.



Fig. 3. Bathymetric data collected in the Chassiron sand mining area. A) Bathymetric map of 2016; B) Bathymetric map of 2019; C) Difference between the bathymetric maps of 2016 and 2019; D) Bathymetric profiles showing the residual sand transport direction (profile 1) and the subaqueous dunes migration between 2016 and 2019 (profile 2). Grain size curves of sand sampled at the top of a subaqueous dune and in the trough between two subaqueous dunes (G-01 and G-02). The location of the bathymetric profiles and grain size samples is shown on the bathymetric map of 2019.

The first order controlling parameter of the long-term evolution is global sea level changes (Chaumillon et al., 2010). Large sea level changes during the glacial/interglacial cycles led to the erosion and flooding of the valleys, imposing a rugged morphology of the substratum (Fig. 2.A). This bedrock morphology is the second order controlling parameter which explains the strong variations in hydrodynamics, which in turn accounts for the diversity in coastal environments (Chaumillon et al., 2008b, 2010). The NW-SE oriented bedrock highs and lows control the juxtaposition of western coasts exposed to the waves, displaying sandy barriers and/or rocky coasts, and mud-dominated sheltered coasts, where wave influence is weaker and where sandy barriers are reduced or absent. This bedrock morphology explains the occurrence of strong tidal currents in entrenched areas within the incised valleys and near headlands. The substratum morphology also controls tidal inlet and estuary mouth locations (Bertin et al., 2004; Feniès et al., 2010). Climate changes through wave climate and precipitations are important controlling parameters of the long-term coastal evolution. This climate control was evidenced in very contrasted sedimentary environments, from mud-dominated (Poirier et al., 2011), to sand-dominated sediment bodies (Poirier et al., 2017a, b).

Medium and short-term changes (Fig. 2.B-C) are also strongly controlled by bedrock antecedent morphology. The most significant change was observed close to exposed estuary mouths and tidal inlets and along sandy exposed beaches where bedrock outcrops are absent (Chaumillon et al., 2019b). In contrast, moderate to slow changes are observed in areas where rocks outcrop in the foreshore, even if they are exposed to large waves. Indeed, stable shallow bedrock outcrops within the upper shoreface or foreshore increase the bottom friction and strongly dissipate wave energy (Poate et al., 2018). The other main controlling parameter is the hydrodynamics. The biggest morphological changes, observed in estuary mouths and tidal inlets (Castelle et al., 2018), are due to strong currents induced by both waves and tides. Fast shoreline changes occur along exposed coasts where large waves combined with tidal variations may produce extreme water levels and serious erosion or overwashes (Baumann et al., 2017b). Medium and short-term changes in many sediment bodies (e.g. sandspits, sandbanks, beach profiles) are also controlled by climate change (Poirier et al., 2017a, b). Storms and clusters of storms cause the biggest morphological changes along both exposed coasts (Chaumillon et al., 2010; Castelle et al., 2015; Baumann et al., 2017) and sheltered coasts (Breilh et al., 2013). Changes in river flows are an important controlling parameter for fine sediment dynamics (Toublanc et al., 2016; Diaz et al., 2020) and sedimentation on estuarine tidal sandbars (Chaumillon et al., 2013).

At all time scales, human activities are forcing parameters of sediment dynamics and coastal geomorphology and conversely are influenced by them. These interactions are discussed in the following section.

5. Discussion: human activities and habitat preservation within the GPMP in the light of morphological evolution and sediment dynamics at different time scales

In this section, we will analyse the interactions between human activities, sediment dynamics and coastal geomorphology in order to identify

A. Schmitt, E. Chaumillon

instabilities and unsustainable activities with the aim of helping to manage human activities and ecosystem protection. For this purpose, we will first describe the relationships between sediment dynamics, morphological change and the eight main human activities that exist in the GPMP today (Fig. 6).

Three human activities, namely deforestation, commercial fishing and leisure activity related to tourism, have a relatively moderate impact on sediment dynamics and morphological chnage. Deforestation occurred during the last two centuries and resulted in an increase in soil erosion and fine sediment supply recorded as a mud drape in estuaries and sheltered areas (Poirier et al., 2011, 2016). Commercial fishing strongly depends on the complex sediment spatial distribution in the GPMP (Fig. 1.B), which controls the species richness, abundance and biomass of benthic communities and many fish (Hily, 1977). Fishing resources are also controlled by mud suspension dynamics, particularly in estuaries and bays (Dara and Douglas, 2001). Fishing activities, in particular bottom trawling, strongly influence sediment dynamics (Oberle et al., 2015). Many activities related to leisure activities (e.g. fishing, yachting, surfing, swimming) are influenced by sediment distribution and exposure to waves. Rapid coastal change impacts these activities by causing beach erosion (Fig. 2), beach access disturbance and sand fill in harbour entrances and/or tidal channels.

In contrast, five human activities, namely land reclamation, shoreline management, harbour development and dredging, shellfish farming and sand mining, interact significantly with sediment dynamics and morphological change, indicating that they depend strongly on this change and, in turn, impact it through a feedback mechanism. These activities have a significant impact on sediment dynamics and morphological change and require careful management to ensure ecosystem protection (Figs. 6, 7). Diagrams displaying these interactions are shown in Fig. 7. The details of the interactions between these five human activities, sediment dynamics and morphological change are analysed below.

5.1. Management of land-reclaimed areas

Land reclamation occurred in sheltered areas of incised valleys (tidal bays and estuaries, Fig. 2.A) naturally prone to sediment fill and siltation. Land reclamation of salt marshes started early during the 10th century in Europe. Since the seventies, this practice has become globalized (OSPAR commission, 2008). Famous examples of coastal land reclamation include Hong Kong, Singapore and the Netherlands (Stauber et al., 2016). Within the GPMP, the first land reclaimed areas were used for salt production during the Middle Ages (Gedan et al., 2009) and later on they were used for agriculture (Sauzeau and Péret, 2014). Today, as land-reclaimed areas are fertile, they are mostly used for agriculture (Kuenzer and Renaud, 2012). Locally, reclaimed areas are also used for housing or tourism accommodation. To prevent marine flooding of reclaimed areas, dikes and locks were built over the last two centuries. A major side-effect of dikes and levees is the interruption of the sediment supply in reclaimed areas. This abrupt break in marine sedimentation, together with soil subsidence related to both natural mud compaction and agricultural practices, leads to extensive low-lying areas: today, 45 to 50 % of the coastal land of Charente-Maritime (Figs. 1.A; 2.A) lies below the highest astronomical tides (Breilh et al., 2013). In the Poitevin Marsh (Fig. 2.A), some agricultural fields are located 2 to 3 m below the highest astronomical tides. Thus, land reclamation has considerably increased the vulnerability of these coastal zones to flooding. These low and vulnerable coastal areas are not exclusive to the GPMP: 10 % of the world's population live in low elevated coastal zones, which cumulatively cover 2 % of the global land area (IPCC, 2014). In the GPMP, the Xynthia Storm in 2010 induced a marine flooding that extended as much as 10 km inland and was an eye-opener concerning this vulnerability (Breilh et al., 2013; Chadenas et al., 2014). A tide gauge located in Rochefort-sur-Mer showed that the sea level rise in Rochefort, during Xynthia, had been limited to an elevation corresponding to the height of the dike bordering the marshes located between Rochefort and the sea. Consequently, the flooding of these marshes (Fig. 2.A) prevented a water level rise in Rochefort (Breilh, 2014). This result was confirmed by hindcast

of the marine flood associated with Xynthia showing a maximum water level limitation locally that reached 1.0 m when flooding was permitted (Bertin et al., 2014). Other studies have shown the impact of marsh flooding in terms of extreme water level limitation (Townend and Pethick, 2002; Huguet et al., 2018). Therefore, flooding of low-lying areas minimizes the risk on stakes, while protective structures lead to the loss of excess water storage space and no longer allow the coastline to adapt to extreme sea levels. These results support the idea that managed realignment could be an important defence option as the probability of extreme sea levels and the risk of flood disaster will increase with global sea level rise (Goeldner-Gianella et al., 2015; Bhunia et al., 2021).

Beyond increasing water storage capacity there are many other advantages with managed realignment or depolderization. First, a huge increase in sedimentation rate is observed in depolderized areas after they are opened to coastal waters. The sedimentation rate reached >2 cm/yr within the Mortagne-sur-Gironde marsh (Fig. 1.C) when it was reconnected to the Gironde Estuary, after the Martin Storm in 1999 (Allou, 2016). Second, salt marsh areas are particularly effective ecosystems for carbon sequestration (Ouyang and Lee, 2020). The largest carbon pool in salt marsh ecosystems is the soil, with a sequestration rate of 210 g $CO^2/m^2/yr$ (Chmura and Anisfeld, 2003; Howard et al., 2014; Amann et al., 2022). The development of salt marshes related to depolderization could be helpful for trapping the CO² produced by human activities, and this gives marsh areas an exceptional ecological function in the context of decarbonization (IPCC, 2022). Third, depolderization leads to an increase in shoreline length and shallow coastal zone surface, resulting in an increase in areas suitable for feeding and nursery. Thus, depolderization can increase biodiversity (Kneib, 1997; Cattrijsse and Hampel, 2006). Fourth, the highly productive coastal marsh ecosystems help filter polluted land water. Pollutant mitigation by salt marshes (reduction of nutrient enrichment) results in improved ocean water quality (Nelson and Zavaleta, 2012). Fifth, marshes are attractive landscapes owing to their rich biodiversity (observation and leisure in natural reserve areas) and constitute a natural heritage (patrimonial value) that should be preserved (Godet et al., 2015). Thus, coastal marsh restauration and depolderization could play a key-role in coastal defences, notably though excess water storage during storms and a very high sedimentation rate and related marsh elevation (Gedan et al., 2009). In addition, depolderization provides a whole series of services: carbon sequestration, safeguarding biodiversity, improving water quality, maintaining attractiveness and landscapes, heritage value (Barbier, 2007). Despite these advantages, in Europe there are only a few (around 15) depolderized areas, in the United Kingdom, Germany, Belgium, Italy and Spain (Goeldner-Gianella-Gianella, 2007). Moreover, it is estimated that since the 18th century 50 % of saltmarshes have been lost or degraded worldwide due to human activities (Gedan et al., 2009; Barbier et al., 2011). Several barriers have been listed to explain such a low number of depolderized areas: (1) lack of knowledge on the marsh environment and on the impacts of depolderization; (2) a general lack of fear of the sea and coastal risk; (3) attachment to local polders and their uses; and (4) a lack of costbenefit analysis (Goeldner-Gianella et al., 2015). Economic arguments could increase acceptance by local habitants, such as the estimated cost of polder management (e.g. restoration), land purchase etc. (De la Vega-Leinert et al., 2012). A better knowledge of marsh ecosystems and sharing this knowledge with the general public could help achieve a higher acceptance of this ecosystem-based solution in order to adapt to climate change (Goeldner-Gianella, 2010). In this regard, we have developed a series of humorous scientific shows associated with books for the general public (Chaumillon et al., 2019a, 2021; https://vimeo.com/404551187).

Land reclamation has developed in areas naturally prone to sediment fill (Fig. 4) and regression, and conversely increased natural regression tendency, by virtue of a positive feedback mechanism (Fig. 7.A). In addition, land reclamation generates negative side effects: (1) an increase in vulnerability related to the development of low-lying coastal zones; and (2) a reduction in intertidal areas that are a key habitat for many species. Due to the key-importance of the GPMP for migrating birds, land reclamation projects in the seventies were abandoned to maintain wide intertidal areas



Contraction of the second

Vegetation limit High sea level Low sea level

Fig. 4. Difference between the Lidar topographic maps in the Aiguillon Cove between 2000 and 2021.

(Verger, 2005). This turning point can be considered as a regulation process regarding the positive feedback induced by land reclamation (Fig. 7.A). Since 1999, regulation processes are ongoing, with the depolderization and restauration of intertidal habitats and wetlands. In the GPMP, three marshes have been reconnected to the sea: Mortagne sur Gironde, La Prée Mizottière and Tasdon (Fig. 1). The Tasdon depolderized area in La Rochelle was created with the aim of increasing biodiversity, carbon sequestration and attractivity for inhabitants (Dupuy et al., 2022). Beyond these pioneering sites, in a context of accelerating sea level rise, our recommendation is to implement a more extensive experimentation of depolderization with the aim of: (1) better quantifying the added value of ecosystem restoration, and (2) studying acceptability among the local population.

5.2. Management of coasts vulnerable to erosion

Hard defences are proliferating around the world (Firth et al., 2013a, b). The aim is to control shoreline position and navigation channels and reduce erosion and flooding (Komar, 1976; Brampton, 2002). Given the fast shoreline dynamics and extensive low-lying zones in the GPMP (Fig. 2), this park is exposed to major coastal risks, including marine flooding and coastal erosion. As a consequence, 26 % of this 1100 km-long shoreline is protected by hard defences (Fig. 1.C). Many of these defences have been developed in relation to land reclamation and are located along sheltered coasts (see previous section). Some exposed coasts of the GPMP are also protected by hard defences. They are mainly located near towns, harbours, roads and tourist infrastructures. In 2014, the evacuation of a building (named "Le signal"), built in the 1970s only 200 m away from the sea, made the French news because, for the first time, a large building had to be abandoned due to coastal erosion. The destruction of this building began in February 2023. It has become a symbol of coastal erosion and the strategic retreat from the French Atlantic coast. Although hard defences are efficient in stabilizing the shoreline, they have several negative impacts (Cooper and McKenna, 2008). Hard defences can alter the natural sediment budget (McLachlan et al., 2013; Brown et al., 2011). One example is the dike located downdrift of the Bonne Anse Inlet (Fig. 1.A) which caused severe erosion in the seventies (Dussier, 2016). Moreover, hard defences can cause steepening of the foreshore and beach erosion due to wave reflection on dikes (Williams et al., 2018). This resulted in coastal squeeze and decreased intertidal habitats that impact many organisms. Examples are the various species of birds (e.g. *Charadrius alexandrinus, Calidris alba, Arenaria interpres*) that use the foreshore as a resting or nesting place. Finally, hard defence support lowers biodiversity more than natural habitats due to the absence of environmental heterogeneity on artificial structures (Firth et al., 2013a, b).

Regarding coastal ecosystems and habitat protection, there is an increasing interest in soft coast defences. Soft coast defences are timelimited and reversible. They include revegetation (Ammophila arenaria is frequently used for this purpose in the GPMP, Favennec, 2001), plant debris covers, wind breaks and beach nourishment. Like hard defences, beach nourishment is costly and needs periodic maintenance (Williams et al., 2018). It has been extensively used in the GPMP (Châtelaillon, Marennes and Soulac-sur-Mer; Fig. 1.C). At the scale of the Charente-Maritime, approximately 1.7 Mm³ of sand was used for beach nourishment between 1989 and 2009. One third of this volume came from sand dredged close to harbour entrances filled by sand supplied by the littoral drift along the northern coast of Oléron Island (Fig. 2; Pupiez-Dauchez, 2008). Beach nourishment in the Medoc peninsula (Soulac-sur-Mer) is supplied by sand dredged from the main channel at the mouth of the Gironde estuary so as to maintain the navigation channel (ARTELIA, 2018). Along this exposed coast it is not as effective as on sheltered coasts (Châtelaillon, Marennes). Indeed, the sediment supply limits the erosion of the frontal dune but does not maintain the beach and must be combined with hard defences to prevent shoreline recession. Beach nourishment is not without effects, including changes in the morphology and habitats in offshore borrow placement areas or potential changes in sediment size and mineralogy (Nordstrom, 2021).

Coastal defences result in shoreline stabilization along transgressive exposed shorelines (negative feedback), but favour sediment fill in sheltered environments (positive feedback, see previous section). Hard defences along beaches generate negative side effects, particularly a decrease in beach width, and consequently a decrease in coastal habitats and attractivity (Fig. 7.B). The disappearance of intertidal habitats in connection with anthropogenic pressure is called "coastal squeeze" (Pontee, 2013). Beach nourishment has less negative side effects but is costly and



Fig. 5. Bathymetric data collected in the Maumusson Inlet. A) Bathymetric map of 2017; B) Bathymetric map of 2018; C) Difference in the bathymetric maps between 2018 and 2017. D) Bathymetric profiles showing the residual sand transport direction and the subaqueous dune migration between the 15th and 22th of May 2018. The location of the bathymetric profiles is shown on the bathymetric map of 2018.

cannot be considered extensively at the scale of the 1100 km long GPMP shoreline.

In this context of coastal erosion, the aim of the French "Littoral law" is to regulate coastal development with the implementation in 1975 of a public establishment: the "Coastal Conservatory". The purpose of this "Coastal Conservatory" is to buy coastal lands to protect and/or restore them (Law No. 86-2 of January 3, 1986 relating to the development, protection and enhancement of the coast). Beyond these protected areas (13 % of the metropolitan French coasts), our recommendation is to give broader consideration to strategic retreat and the development of natural coastal ecosystems as an adaptation to climate change. Focusing on eroding beach barrier ecosystems, maintaining a non-urbanised back barrier area provides space for barrier roll-over (Arens et al., 2013).

5.3. Harbour development and dredging

The complex and indented shoreline of the GPMP, with its flooded incised valleys (Fig. 2), has provided an optimal geomorphological setting for the development of many harbours. Today, 60 harbours are localized in the GPMP. They are currently of various sizes and are devoted to trade, fishing, shellfish farming and yachting. La Rochelle and Bordeaux are the 6th and 7th largest French commercial harbours, respectively. The yachting harbour of La Rochelle (Les Minimes) is one of the largest yachting harbours in Europe. Harbours developed early during antiquity in the GPMP (*Portus Santonum*, Mathé et al., 2020). During the 15th century, the GPMP domain was very busy (Acerra and Sauzeau, 2012). For example, Brouage Harbour was established during the 15th century and became active and famous in Europe for the trade of salt, wine and later on (18th century), for mussels (Papy, 1935; Camus et al., 2014). The Brouage Channel was dredged to maintain access for navigation, but progressive siltation led to channel sediment fill and the abandonment of Brouage Harbour (Papy, 1935).

Dredging to enlarge and deepen access levels for large vessels has increased drastically since the early 20th century. Annually, the dredged sediment volume reaches approximately 600.10⁶ m³ worldwide (Kasmi et al., 2017). In the GPMP, dredging volumes reach approximately 1 and $10.10^{6} \text{ m}^{3}/\text{yr}$ for the Charente and Gironde estuaries, respectively (Fig. 1. A.C), corresponding to about 34 % of the total dredged volume in France. The dredged material is dumped by immersion or used locally for beach nourishment (see previous section). Dumping sites are chosen based on knowledge of the hydrodynamics and sediment transport pathways. Immersion sites are chosen downstream of the dredging areas in dispersive areas so as to avoid rapid refilling of channels and harbours and to promote a cost/efficiency compromise. For example, between 2002 and 2018 $5.10^6\,\mathrm{m^3}$ of fine sediment was dumped offshore from La Rochelle Harbour (Fig. 1.C), close to an incised-valley segment where tidal currents are powerful (Volume from an impact study report carried out by the Atlantic port in 2018 (grey literature), in accordance with the declaration made to the Departmental Directorate of Territories and the Sea - DDTM). Within the GPMP, dredging and dumping can remobilize elements trapped in fine sediments, such as cadmium originating from the Garonne and Charente Rivers (Fig. 2; Dabrin et al., 2014). Cadmium can have a severe impact on shellfish farming, leading to inedible shellfish when the concentration is too high (Strady et al., 2011). Indeed, the European community has set



Fig. 6. Diagram of the relationships at 3 time scales between sediment dynamics, morphological change and human activities within the GPMP.

up a classification based on the concentration of Cadmium above a consumption standard (1 μ g.g⁻¹ fresh weight), making the production and consumption of shellfish prohibited (Ministerial order of July 2, 1996 setting the health criteria that must be met by live shellfish intended for immediate human consumption).

Dredging and dumping operations are therefore governed by regulatory thresholds with regard to potential contamination. Channel deepening also impacts tidal propagation and can increase tidal range (Dam et al., 2013; Winterwerp et al., 2013). Within the Gironde Estuary, the tide increased by 12–15 % upstream between 1953 and 2014 due to morphological changes (Jalón-Rojas et al., 2018). However, the consequences of deepening operations alone have not been documented in the Gironde estuary and should be investigated.

Most of the harbours within the GPMP have been placed in sheltered environments prone to siltation and sediment fill. Dredging activities counteract this tendency and can be considered as a negative feedback effect on



Fig. 7. Diagrams of the relationship and feedback loops between morphological change and five human activities heavily dependent on sediment dynamics: A) Land Reclamation; B) Coastal defences; C) Harbour development and dredging; D) Shellfish farming; E) Sand mining.

natural sediment fill. Nevertheless, dredging activities generate several side effects, in particular an increase in turbidity which impacts habitats and remobilizes the pollutants contained in the mud (Cooper et al., 2011). In order to reduce these negative side effects, our recommendation is to optimize dredging operations based on detailed knowledge of: (1) sediment dynamics based on both in situ measurements and numerical modeling; and (2) the nature and level of contamination of the sediments to be extracted (Fig. 7.C). In this regard, the Charente-Maritime Departmental Council, the marina of La Rochelle and the "Grand Port Maritime" of La Rochelle have implemented a management plan for dredging.

5.4. Management of Shellfish farms

Coastal aquaculture is now an important economic activity, with 82 million tons of aquatic organisms farmed around the world in 2018 (FAO, 2012, 2020). Extensive shallow and intertidal muddy environments in the GPMP are areas of strong bioproductivity and are particularly favourable for shellfish farming (Healy et al., 2002; Savelli et al., 2019). Oyster farms are mainly distributed in the estuaries and tidal bays of the GPMP (Fig. 1. C). Historically, oysters and mussels have been present in the GPMP at least since prehistoric times (Gutiérrez-Zugasti et al., 2011). In France, the culture of this shellfish resource started during the 13th century and was industrialized around 1860 (Bonnet and Troadec, 1985). Today, the Marennes-Oléron Bay is the leading oyster farming area in Europe, with an annual production of 40,000 tons in 2014 (AGRESTE, 2015). Intensive mussel farming is a major industry in the Pertuis Breton, Pertuis d'Antioche and Aiguillon Cove (Fig. 1). This industry has played a critical role in shaping the environment as well as the social and economic organization of the local populations (Goulletquer and Le Moine, 2002). Shellfish farms, whether they are permanent or temporary, have an impact on sedimentation by modifying the bathymetry, increasing bottom roughness and reducing currents by bottom friction. The intensive production of filter-feeding organisms in sheltered marine waters promotes the accumulation of mud rich in organic matter (Sornin, 1981). Concentrations of shells favours the strong sedimentation of fine particles by trapping bio-aggregates, which are difficult to remobilize (Sauriau et al., 1998; Bergström et al., 2020). Shellfish farms act as a hydrodynamic obstacle (Wang and Shen, 1999; Birben et al., 2007) and can reduce the speed of tidal currents by 50 % and wave height by 30 to 50 % (Sornin, 1981), thus reducing the resuspension potential of sediments by currents (Kervella, 2009). In the Marennes-Oléron Bay, where shellfish farming covers 20 % of its total area, the volume of sediments built up by oyster farming since 1824 is estimated at 35.10⁶ m³, i.e. 30 % of the volume of sediments deposited in the bay (Bertin et al., 2005; Bertin and Chaumillon, 2006). Sedimentation is a threat to sustainable shellfish farming. Thus, to prevent rapid sediment fill, oyster farm management actions include: (1) dredging between shellfish farms (Mercaldo-Allen and Goldberg, 2011); (2) removing unused shellfish farms; (3) removing shellfish farms during winter, a period of strong sediment remobilization; (4) removing wild oyster reefs which grow on mudflats; and (5) developing tidal leasing grounds and offshore production in order to decrease the biomass stocked in intertidal zones (Goulletquer and Le Moine, 2002).

Extensive shallow intertidal areas and bays in the GPMP favoured the development of shellfish farming in these naturally regressive areas. In turn, this activity increased sedimentation following a positive feedback loop (Fig. 7.D). This positive feedback induces an instability and threatens the sustainable development of shellfish farming. Faced with this instability, several management actions are designed to prevent fast sedimentation in shellfish farms and can be considered as self-regulation.

5.5. Management of sand mining areas

Sand mining is increasing worldwide (Peduzzi, 2014) in relation to the growing population in coastal areas. The GPMP is no exception to this rule, with three main sand mining areas. Although offshore sand mining in France only represents 2 % of French sand production, 18.10^6 t/yr of

marine sediment were extracted between 2000 and 2019, with 1.8.10⁶ t/ yr in the GPMP (https://www.unpg.fr/wp-content/uploads/unpg-chiffres-2019-web.pdf). Sand mining areas in the GPMP are located in marine segments of incised valleys where fossil sand accumulation constitutes an ideal resource (Weber et al., 2004a; Chaumillon and Weber, 2006). The largest volumes of sand are extracted in the outer Charente incised-valley, with 1.4.10⁶ m³/yr maximum allowed (Chassiron Concession, Fig. 3). In the example of the mining area "B" (Fig. 3), the sand volume calculated from differences between the bathymetric maps of 2016 and 2019 is 15 % lower than the extracted sand volume. This difference can be explained mainly by sand trapping within this pit, estimated at about 40,000 m³/yr. Nevertheless, the presence of subaquaeous sand dunes with morphologies recording a residual shoreward sand transport (Fig. 3), both in the western and eastern part of the pit, indicate that beyond sand trapping, a certain quantity of sand moves shoreward, out from the pit. This example also shows that substantial morphological change can take place below the depth of closure (Hallermeier, 1980), which is estimated at -14 m for the French Atlantic coast (Pezerat, 2022). Similar observations have been reported in other studies (Anthony and Aagaard, 2020). Although, the depth of closure is used as a recommended limit for sand mining, (Hallermeier, 1980) it would seem more appropriate to consider the wave base definition as cross boundary. Wave changes due to pits in Chassiron were modelled (ARTELIA, 2021) and the results showed that changes in wave conditions are restricted to 3 km shoreward of the pits. For storm conditions, bathymetric deepening also induces a local increase in wave height (ARTELIA, 2021). Moreover, the increase in turbidity related to dredging in the Chassiron mining area seems to be localized and reduced in time and space due to a low proportion of fine sediments. Given the moderate impacts of pits on sediment dynamics shoreward of the Chassiron area, sand mining was authorized in 2022 (https://parc-marin-gironde-pertuis.fr/ actualites/le-conseil-de-gestion-emet-2-avis-conformes-favorables). In contrast, another sand mining project, within the mouth of the Gironde Estuary (Matelier) and at a similar water depth (-20 m bsl), was refused an authorization in 2018 (https://parc-marin-gironde-pertuis.fr/actualite/avisconforme-defavorable-au-projet-dextraction-de-granulats-marins-sur-le-

gisement-du) because it was considered to be too close to the shoreline and contrary to the objectives of preserving marine habitats. The complexity of sediment dynamics in this wide estuary mouth (Mallet et al., 2000) together with the huge erosion rates along the adjacent coastlines (Chaumillon et al., 2019b) were also cited as arguments against sand mining in this area.

Pits related to sand extraction are naturally filled by sand eroded from the surrounding seafloor, showing a tendency to restore the bathymetry as it was before extraction (Van Rijn et al., 2005; Garel et al., 2009). This behaviour can be considered as a negative feedback mechanism leading to the restauration of the shoreface balance profile. Nevertheless, over the long term, sand filling of pits may also induce sand loss for natural beach nourishment (Hamon-Kerivel et al., 2020) and a lack of balance for the sediment budget of the coastal system. Accelerating sand mining clearly exceeds natural renewal rates and may impact the coastal sediment budget. In this way, sand mining has negative effects on coastal ecosystems (Fig. 7.E). An assessment of the impact of sand mining on coastal areas is still limited by our incomplete knowledge of cross-shore sediment transport, particularly during storms, due to the lack of in situ measurements. Indeed, there is a need to continue the study of sediment dynamics and morphological change in the shoreface domain. Present-day impact studies made by technical consultants compare the impacts of future sand mining with the current state, namely an already dredged shoreface with deep pits. The initial state (shoreface without pits) is not considered, which limits the assessment of the impact of sand mining. Our recommendation is to consider the initial state in order to avoid the "shifting baseline syndrome" (Soga and Gaston, 2018). Given the non-renewable nature of shoreface sands and the increasing demand for housing and construction along the coastline, sand mining should be limited, the use of sand restricted to essential construction (sufficiency) and the use of recycled material must be increased.

6. Conclusion

This review provides for the first time an overview of the morphological change and sediment dynamics of the GPMP, a marine park located along the southwest French Atlantic coastline. The aim of this overview is to provide a scientific basis to help manage ecosystem protection together with the development of human activities. With 6 estuaries, a 1100 km-long indented shoreline and many human activities, the GPMP may provide a reference site for a large variety of coastal MPAs.

The first key-message from this synthesis is that, although long-term change covers much longer periods than those typically considered for coastal management and human activities, it must be carefully investigated because it exerts a strong control on change over shorter time scales and on many human activities. As a result, incised valleys and their sediment fill control the large-scale morphology of the coastline and inner shelf, which themselves control many human activities such as the location of harbours, land reclaimed areas and shellfish farms in sheltered areas, and sand mining in the shoreface domain of valley-fills. Thus, antecedent bedrock morphology is a key controlling parameter at every time scale. In view of the extensive development of mixed rocky and sedimentary coasts around the world, such a result is critically important and transferable to many MPAs. Despite its importance, this controlling parameter is neglected in numerical experiments, which usually focus on short time scales. In our review, we emphasize the importance of considering the control exercised by the antecedent morphology and geology of a bay on coastal behaviour and human activities.

This synthesis also provides a basis for exploring some relationships and feedback mechanisms between natural coastal processes and human activities, as evidenced in the GPMP. Beyond their application to local management issues, these relationships are transferable to other MPAs. Sheltered areas (estuaries and bays), where natural sedimentation induces regression, favour the development of land reclamation and shellfish farming. Many examples can be found worldwide with extensive land reclaimed areas and a huge development of shellfish farms in estuaries, bays, rias and fjords. These activities result in positive feedbacks because they favour sedimentation, but they are leading to a loss of balance. Depolderization, dredging within shellfish farms and removing unused shellfish farms are examples of management issues that can help to counteract these positive feedbacks. Coastal defences and dredging in harbours and navigation channels are common worldwide. They both involve negative feedback as they tend to stabilize geomorphology by fighting against erosion or sediment deposition, respectively. However, they have several side effects on habitats. Protecting all world coastlines against erosion is unrealistic. Thus, a strategic retreat should be considered. Increasing shipping activity and harbour development is associated with huge dredging volumes leading to pollution and increased turbidity. Monitoring and regulation plans are needed to limit these side effects. Sand mining is increasing exponentially worldwide. Sea floor deepening after sand mining tends to be filled by sediments eroded in surrounding areas, leading to the restoration of a balanced shoreface profile following a self-regulation mechanism. Nevertheless, sand mining exceeds natural renewal rates and has a negative impact on the long-term stability of coastal ecosystems. There is an urgent need for a regulation of this activity at a global scale.

Because of their impact on coastal ecosystems (positive feedback mechanisms and instabilities, pollution, habitat destruction, and a decrease in non-renewable resources), these activities are at the heart of conflicts of use. This implies a regulatory framework and decisions by MPA management committees. These decisions must be based on shared knowledge of relationships between human activities and coastal ecosystem behaviour at different time scales. In this regard, knowledge syntheses, like this review, are essential. They should be implemented in all MPAs. Stabilization is not always possible in MPAs where strong sedimentary and shoreline dynamics occur. Then the question of "laissez-faire" and nature-based solutions, which require space, community involvement, land rights and economic incentives, arises. In this regard, coastal defence realignment and the restauration of ecosystems, particularly sedimentary barriers and coastal wetlands, should be increasingly considered as solutions for balancing habitat protection and human activities. From this overview, it appears that faced with the increasing costs of coastal defences against sea level rise, and the growing population along the shoreline, ecosystem-based adaptation brings multiple co-benefits, such as: shoreline stabilization, coastal resilience, protection from floods, improved water quality, carbon storage, increased biodiversity, and the preservation of natural heritage and human health. One of the key aspects of ecosystem-based adaptation is the role of sediments in shaping and maintaining coastal ecosystems. Sediments are essential building blocks of beaches, dunes and wetlands, and they play a critical role in coastal processes such as erosion, accretion and sedimentation. The availability and quality of sediment resources may significantly affect the success of ecosystem-based adaptation measures, and understanding sediment dynamics and budgets is crucial for effective planning and implementation of ecosystem-based adaptation projects.

To sum up, a comprehensive understanding of sediment dynamics is a key component of successful coastal ecosystem-based adaptation strategies as it can help to ensure the long-term resilience and sustainability of coastal ecosystems, while also providing a range of co-benefits for both nature and people.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

A. Schmitt: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. **E. Chaumillon:** Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Investigation, Validation, Resources, Supervision.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Declaration of competing interest

Schmitt reports financial support was provided by Parc Naturel Marin de l'Estuaire de la Gironde et de la mer des Pertuis, OFB.

Acknowledgements

This review is the result of the CELHYSE R&D project conducted in a partnership between the GPMP (OFB managing) and the LIENSs laboratory (La Rochelle University). This project was materialized by the creation of a database, reports, an atlas and a video (https://parc-marin-gironde-pertuis. fr/editorial/les-dynamiques-hydro-sedimentaires; https://youtu.be/vHz0A1uALiI) for the GPMP managers and users. We would like to thank the members of the GPMP and more particularly: Cécile Barreaud, Mélanie Odion, Emmanuelle Jaouen, Aurélie Dessier. Thanka are also due to GMS for allowing the use of Chassiron bathymetric data, and to our scientific colleagues Bruno Castelle, Aldo Sottolichio, Xavier Bertin and Bleuen Guilloux for improving this article.

References

Acerra, M., Sauzeau, T., 2012. Zones construites, zones désertes sur le littoral atlantique. Les leçons du passé. Norois 222 (1), 103–114. https://doi.org/10.4000/norois.4048.

- AGRESTE, 2015. 'Chiffres et Données Agriculture', l'utilisation du terrritoire en 2014, Teruti-Lucas, n°229, Ministère de l'agriculture de l'agroalimentaire et de la forêt. www.agreste. agriculture.gouv.fr.
- Airoldi, L., 2003. The effects of sedimentation on rocky coast assemblages. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev. V41, 161–171.
- Allard, J., Bertin, X., Chaumillon, E., Pouget, F., 2008. Sand spit rhythmic development: a potential record of wave climate variations? Arçay spit, western coast of France. Mar. Geol. 253 (3–4), 107–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.margeo.2008.05.009.
- Allard, J., Chaumillon, E., Bertin, X., Poirier, C., Ganthy, F., 2010. Sedimentary record of environmental changes and human interferences in a macrotidal bay for the last millenaries: the Marennes-Oléron Bay (SW France). Bulletin de la Société Géologique de France 181 (2), 151–169. https://doi.org/10.2113/gssgfbull.181.2.151.
- Allen, G.P. (1991) 'Sedimentary processes and facies in the Gironde estuary: a recent model for macrotidal estuarine systems'.

A. Schmitt, E. Chaumillon

- Allen, G.P., Posamentier, H.W., 1994. Transgressive facies and sequence architecture in mixed tide-and wave-dominated incised valleys: example from the Gironde estuary, France. In: Dalrymple, R.W., Boyd, R., Zaitlin, B.A. (Eds.), Incised-Valley Systems: Origin and Sedimentary Sequences. SEPM Society for Sedimentary Geology https://doi.org/10.2110/ pec.94.12.0225.
- Allen, G.P., Salomon, J.C., Bassoullet, P.Y. Penhoat, C.d. Grandpré., 1980. Effects of tides on mixing and suspended sediment transport in macrotidal estuaries. Sediment. Geol. 26 (1–3), 69–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/0037-0738(80)90006-8.
- Allou, S., 2016. Renaturation d'un marais estuarien: réponse des poissons et des macrocrustacés à l'échelle des communautés et des individus. Suivi de la dépoldérisation du marais de Mortagne-sur-Gironde. (Doctoral dissertation, Agrocampus ouest CFR Rennes, spécialisation halieutique, gestion des pêches, des écosystèmes côtiers et continentaux)p. 53.
- Amann, B., Chaumillon, E., Schmidt, S., Olivier, L., Jupin, J., Perello, M. C., Walsh, J. P.. (Submitted Sept. 2022). Multi-annual and multi-decadal evolution of sediment accretion in a saltmarsh of the French Atlantic coast: implications for carbon sequestration. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, YECSS-D-22-00612.
- Anthony, E.J., Aagaard, T., 2020. The lower shoreface: Morphodynamics and sediment connectivity with the upper shoreface and beach. Earth Sci. Rev. 210, 103334. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103334.
- Arens, S.M., Mulder, J.P.M., Slings, Q.L., Geelen, L.H., Damsma, P., 2013. Dynamic dune management, integrating objectives of nature development and coastal safety: examples from the Netherlands. Geomorphology 199, 205-213/. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph. 2012.10.034.
- ARTELIA, 2012. 'Communauté de communes de la Pointe du Médoc. Réalisation d'un diagnostic permettant la détermination d'une stratégie communautaire de gestion du phénomène d'érosion'. Phase 1.
- ARTELIA, 2018. 'Dragage d'entretien du chenal de navigation, des ouvrages portuaires et leurs acces et gestion des sédiments dragués'. V8.
- ARTELIA, 2021. Renouvellement des concessions Chassiron B et D, Travaux de modélisation hydrodynamique et hydro sédimentaire.
- Barbier, E.B., 2007. Valuing ecosystem services as productive inputs. Economic policy 22 (49), 178–229.
- Barbier, Hacker, S.D., Kennedy, C., Koch, E.W., Stier, A.C., Silliman, B.R., et al., 2011, 2011. The value of estuarine and coastal ecosystem services. Ecol. Monogr. 81 (2), 169–193.
- Baumann, J., Chaumillon, E., Schneider, J.L., Jorissen, F., Sauriau, P.G., Richard, P., ... Schmidt, S., 2017a. Contrasting sediment records of marine submersion events related to wave exposure, Southwest France. Sediment. Geol. 353 (a), 158–170. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.sedgeo.2017.03.009.
- Baumann, J., Chaumillon, E., Bertin, X., Schneider, J.-L., Guillot, B., Schmutz, M., 2017b. Importance of infragravity waves for the generation of washover deposits. Mar. Geol. 391, 20–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.margeo.2017.07.013.
- Bergström, P., Durland, Y., Lindegarth, M., 2020. Deposition of shells modify nutrient fluxes in marine sediments: effects of nutrient enrichment and mitigation by bioturbation below mussel farms. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 12, 315–325.
- Bertin, X., Chaumillon, E., 2005. Apports de la modélisation sur bathymétries historiques dans la compréhension des évolutions des bancs de sable estuariens. Compt. Rendus Geosci. 337 (15), 1375–1383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crte.2005.06.007.
- Bertin, X., Chaumillon, E., 2006. The implication of oyster farming in increasing sedimentation rates in a macrotidal bay: the Marennes-Oléron Bay, France. Cah. Biol. Mar. 47 (1), 19.
- Bertin, X., Chaumillon, E., Weber, N., Tesson, M., 2004. Morphological evolution and timevarying bedrock control of main channel at a mixed energy tidal inlet: Maumusson inlet, France. Mar. Geol. 204 (1–2), 187–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-3227(03) 00353-0.
- Bertin, X., Chaumillon, E., Sottolichio, A., Pedreros, R., 2005. Tidal inlet response to sediment infilling of the associated bay and possible implications of human activities: the Marennes-Oléron Bay and the Maumusson inlet, France. Cont. Shelf Res. 25 (9), 1115–1131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2004.12.004.
- Bertin, X., Deshouilieres, A., Allard, J., Chaumillon, E., 2007. A new fluorescent tracers experiment improves understanding of sediment dynamics along the Arcay Sandspit (France). Geo-Mar. Lett. 27, 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00367-006-0052-0.
- Bertin, X., Castelle, B., Chaumillon, E., Butel, R., Quique, R., 2008. Longshore transport estimation and inter-annual variability at a high-energy dissipative beach: St. Trojan beach, SW Oléron Island, France. Cont. Shelf Res. 28 (10-11), 1316–1332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2008.03.005.
- Bertin, X., Li, K., Roland, A., Zhang, Y.J., Breilh, J.F., Chaumillon, E., 2014. A modeling-based analysis of the flooding associated with Xynthia, Central Bay of Biscay. Coast. Eng. 94, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2014.08.013.
- Bertin, X., Li, K., Roland, A., Bidlot, J.R., 2015. The contribution of short-waves in storm surges: two case studies in the Bay of Biscay. Cont. Shelf Res. 96, 1–15. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.csr.2015.01.005.
- Bhunia, G.S., Chatterjee, U., Shit, P.K., 2021. Chapter 15 land reclamation, management, and planning in coastal region: A geoinformatics approach. In: Bhunia, G.S., et al. (Eds.), Modern Cartography Series. Academic Press, pp. 313–335 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823895-0.00002-6.
- Billy, J., Chaumillon, E., Féniès, H., Poirier, C., 2012. Tidal and fluvial controls on the morphological evolution of a lobate estuarine tidal Bar: the Plassac tidal bar in the Gironde estuary (France). Geomorphology 169, 86–97.
- Birben, A.R., Özölçer, İ.H., Karasu, S., Kömürcü, M.İ., 2007. Investigation of the effects of offshore breakwater parameters on sediment accumulation. Ocean Eng. 34 (2), 284–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2005.12.006.
- Boé, J., Terray, L., Martin, E., Habets, F., 2009. Projected changes in components of the hydrological cycle in French river basins during the 21st century: climate change and hydrological cycle in France. Water Resour. Res. 45 (8). https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2008WR007437.

- Bonnet, M., Troadec, J.P., 1985. The shellfish industry in France. International Seminar Shellfish Culture Development and Management . https://archimer.ifremer.fr/doc/00000/ 6223/.
- Brampton, A., 2002. Coastal Defence. Thomas Telford . https://books.google.fr/books?id = kkVfVMGjOTIC.
- Breilh, J.F., 2014. Les surcotes et les submersions marines dans la partie centrale du Golfe de Gascogne: les enseignements de la tempête Xynthia. (Doctoral dissertation)Université de La Rochelle.
- Breilh, J.F., Chaumillon, E., Bertin, X., Gravelle, M., 2013. Assessment of static flood modeling techniques: application to contrasting marshes flooded during Xynthia (western France). Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci. 13 (6), 1595–1612. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-13-1595-2013.
- Breilh, J.F., Bertin, X., Chaumillon, E., Giloy, N., Sauzeau, T., 2014. How frequent is storminduced flooding in the central part of the Bay of Biscay? Glob. Planet. Chang. 122, 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2014.08.013.
- Brown, S., Barton, M., Nicholls, R., 2011. Coastal retreat and/or advance adjacent to defences in England and Wales. J. Coast. Conserv. 15 (4), 659–670.
- Camus, A., Champagne, A., Mathé, V., 2014. Brouage a new early modern town through history, archaeology and geophysical survey. Early Modern Town Project. Lulu Press, pp. 503–537.
- Castelle, B., Marieu, V., Bujan, S., Splinter, K.D., Robinet, A., Senechal, N., Ferreire, S., 2015. On the impact of a series of severe storms on a double-barred sandy coast: dune erosion and Megacups Embayments. The Proceedings of the Coastal Sediments 2015, p. 10.
- Castelle, B., Dodet, G., Masselink, G., Scott, T., 2017. A new climate index controlling winter wave activity along the Atlantic coast of Europe: the West Europe pressure anomaly. Geophys. Res. Lett. 44 (3), 1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GL072379.
- Castelle, B., Guillot, B., Marieu, V., Chaumillone, E., Hanquiez, V., Bujan, S., Poppeschi, C., 2018. Spatial and temporal patterns of shoreline change of a 280-km high-energy disrupted sandy coast from 1950 to 2014: SW France. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 200, 2112–2223.
- Castelle, B., Laporte-Fauret, Q., Marieu, V., Michalet, R., Rosebery, D., Bujan, S., ... Narteau, C., 2019. Nature-based solution along high-energy eroding Sandy coasts: preliminary tests on the reinstatement of natural dynamics in Reprofiled coastal dunes. Water 11 (12), 2518. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11122518.
- Cattrijsse, A., Hampel, H., 2006. European intertidal marshes: a review of their habitat functioning and value for aquatic organisms. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 324, 293–307. https://doi. org/10.3354/meps324293.
- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P.R., Barnosky, A.D., García, A., Pringle, R.M., Palmer, T.M., 2015. Accelerated modern human-induced species losses: entering the sixth mass extinction. Sci. Adv. 1 (5), e1400253. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1400253.
- Chadenas, C., Creach, A., Mercier, D., 2014. The impact of storm Xynthia in 2010 on coastal flood prevention policy in France. J. Coast. Conserv. 18 (5), 529–538. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11852-013-0299-3.
- Chaumillon, E., Weber, N., 2006. Spatial variability of modern incised valleys on the French Atlantic coast: comparison between the Charente and the lay-Sèvre incised valleys. https://doi.org/10.2110/pec.06.85.
- Chaumillon, E., Gillet, H., Weber, N., Tesson, M., 2002. Évolution temporelle et architecture interne d'un banc sableux estuarien: la Longe de Boyard (littoral atlantique, France). Compt. Rendus Geosci. 334 (2), 119–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1631-0713(02) 01710-8.
- Chaumillon, E., Bertin, X., Falchetto, H., Allard, J., Weber, N., Walker, P., ... Woppelmann, G., 2008a. Multi time-scale evolution of a wide estuary linear sandbank, the Longe de Boyard, on the French Atlantic coast. Mar. Geol. 251 (a), 209–223. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.margeo.2008.02.014.
- Chaumillon, E., Proust, J.N., Menier, D., Weber, N., 2008b. Incised-valley morphologies and sedimentary-fills within the inner shelf of the Bay of Biscay (France): a synthesis. J. Mar. Syst. 72 (b), 383–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys. 2007.05.014.
- Chaumillon, E., Tessier, B., Reynaud, J.-Y., 2010. Stratigraphic records and variability of incised valleys and estuaries along French coasts. Bull. Soc. Geol. Fr. 181 (2), 75–85. https://doi.org/10.2113/gssgfbull.181.2.75.
- Chaumillon, E., Féniès, H., Billy, J., Breilh, J.F., Richetti, H., 2013. Tidal and fluvial controls on the internal architecture and sedimentary facies of a lobate estuarine tidal Bar (the Plassac tidal bar in the Gironde estuary, France). Mar. Geol. 346, 58–72. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.margeo.2013.07.017.
- Chaumillon, E., Bertin, X., Fortunato, A.B., Bajo, M., Schneider, J.L., Dezileau, L., ... Pedreros, R., 2017. Storm-induced marine flooding: lessons from a multidisciplinary approach. Earth Sci. Rev. 165, 151–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2016.12.005.
- Chaumillon, E., Bouzard, G., Duméry, M., 2019a. In: de Carotte, Plume (Ed.), Hé... La mer monte ! (112 pp.) https://pnr.parc-marais-poitevin.fr/he-la-mer-monte-le-showscientifique-sera-a-niort-le-jeudi-27-juin-2019.
- Chaumillon, E., Cange, V., Gaudefroy, J., Merle, T., Bertin, X., Pignon, C., 2019b. Controls on shoreline changes at Pluri-annual to secular timescale in mixed-energy rocky and sedimentary estuarine systems. J. Coast. Res. 88 (sp1), 135–156. https://doi.org/10.2112/ SI88-011.1.
- Chaumillon, E., Bouzard, G., Duméry, M., 2021. In: de Carotte, Plume (Ed.), La mer contreattaque (151 pp) https://pnr.parc-marais-poitevin.fr/la-mer-contre-attaque-le-nouveaushow-scientifique-debarque-a-la-rochelle-mardi-26-novembre-2019.
- Chmura, G.L., Anisfeld, S.C., 2003. Global carbon sequestration in tidal, saline wetland soils. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 17 (4). https://doi.org/10.1029/2002GB001917.
- Cirac, P., Berne, S., Castaing, P., Weber, O., 2000. Processus de mise en place et d'évolution de la couverture sédimentaire superficielle de la plate-forme nord-aquitaine. Oceanol. Acta 23 (6), 663–686.
- Cooper, J.A.G., McKenna, J., 2008. Social justice in coastal erosion management: the temporal and spatial dimensions. Geoforum 39 (1), 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum. 2007.06.007.

- Cooper, K.M., Curtis, M., Hussin, W.W., Froján, C.B., Defew, E.C., Nye, V., Paterson, D.M., 2011. Implications of dredging induced changes in sediment particle size composition for the structure and function of marine benthic macrofaunal communities. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62 (10), 2087–2094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.07.021.
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., De Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., ... Van Den Belt, M., 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387 (6630), 253–260.
- CREOCEAN (2020) 'Dossier unique de demandes simultanées de prolongations du titre minier et des autorisations domaniale et d'ouverture de travaux', pièce 5: Étude d'impact environnementale', report.
- Dabrin, A., 2009. Mécanismes de transfert des éléments traces métalliques (ETM) et réactivité estuarienne: Cas des systèmes Gironde, Charente, Seudre et Baie de Marennes Oléron (Doctoral dissertation, Bordeaux 1).
- Dabrin, A., Schäfer, J., Bertrand, O., Masson, M., Blanc, G., 2014. Origin of suspended matter and sediment inferred from the residual metal fraction: application to the Marennes Oleron Bay, France. Continental Shelf Research. 72, pp. 119–130. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.csr.2013.07.008.
- Dam, G., Poortman, S.E., Bliek, A.J., Planche, Y., 2013. Long-term modeling of the impact of dredging strategies on morpho- and hydrodynamic developments in the western Scheldt. 20th World dredging congress and exhibition 2013, p. 739.
- Dara, H.W., Douglas, G.C., 2001. Biological effects of suspended sediments: a review of suspended sediment impacts on fish and shellfish with relation to dredging activities in estuaries. N. Am. J. Fish Manag. 21 (4), 855–875.
- De la Vega-Leinert, A.C., Wegener, E., Stoll-Kleemann, S., 2012. Identifying gaps between science and practitioners perspectives on land use: the case of managed realignment in the German Baltic coast. Berlin Conference on Human Dimensions of Global Change, 5th – 6th ed. Environmental Policy Research Centre, Free University, Berlin. (Accessed November 2012t).
- Diaz, M., Grasso, F., Le Hir, P., Sottolichio, A., Caillaud, M., Thouvenin, B., 2020. Modeling mud and sand transfers between a macrotidal estuary and the continental shelf: influence of the sediment transport parameterization. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 125 (4). https://doi. org/10.1029/2019JC015643.
- Dinis, J.L., Henriques, V., Freitas, M.C., Andrade, C., Costa, P., 2006. Natural to anthropogenic forcing in the Holocene evolution of three coastal lagoons (Caldas da Rainha valley, western Portugal). Quat. Int. 150 (1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2006.01.025.
- Dodet, G., Bertin, X., Bouchette, F., Gravelle, M., Testut, L., Wöppelmann, G., 2019a. Characterization of sea-level variations along the metropolitan coasts of France: waves, tides, storm surges and long-term changes. J. Coast. Res. 88, 10–24.
- Dodet, G., Melet, A., Ardhuin, F., Bertin, X., Idier, D., Almar, R., 2019b. The contribution of wind-generated waves to Coastal Sea-level changes. Surv. Geophys. 40 (6), 1563–1601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10712-019-09557-5.
- Doxaran, D., Froidefond, J.M., Castaing, P., Babin, M., 2009. Dynamics of the turbidity maximum zone in a macrotidal estuary (the Gironde, France): observations from field and MODIS satellite data. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 81 (3), 321–332. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ecss.2008.11.013.
- Dupuy, C., Agogué, H., Amann, B., Azémar, F., Becu, N., Bergeon, L., ... Volto, N., 2022. Towards Carbon Neutrality by 2040 in La Rochelle Metropolitan Area (France): Quantifying the Role of Wetlands and Littoral Zone in the Capture and Sequestration of Blue Carbon. HAL.
- Dussier, M., 2016. La Rochelle, capitale de la plaisance en Charente-Maritime (1945–2005): étude sur l'évolution d'un loisir nautique et de ses aménagements urbano-portuaires. (Doctoral dissertation)Université de La Rochelle.
- Edgar, G.J., Russ, G.R., Babcock, R.C., 2007. Marine protected areas. Marine Ecology. 27. Oxford University Press, South Melbourne, pp. 533–555.
- FAO, F., 2012. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Opportunities and challenges.
 Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2012.
 FAO, 2020. La Situation Mondiale des Pêches et de L'aquaculture 2020. La Durabilité en Ac-
- tion. Favennec, J., 2001. Le Contrôle souple des dune littorales atlantiques. Revue forestière
- française 53, 279–285. Feniès, H., Lericolais, G., Posamentier, H.W., 2010. Comparison of wave-and tide-dominated
- inclused valleys: specific processes controlling systems tract architecture and reservoir geometry. Bull. Soc. Geol. Fr. 181 (2), 171–181.
- Firth, L.B., Mieszkowska, N., Thompson, R.C., Hawkins, S.J., 2013a. Climate change and adaptational impacts in coastal systems: the case of sea defences. Environ Sci Process Impacts 15 (9), 1665. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3em00313b.
- Firth, L.B., Thompson, R.C., White, F.J., Schofield, M., Skov, M.W., Hoggart, S.P., ... Hawkins, S.J., 2013b. The importance of water-retaining features for biodiversity on artificial intertidal coastal defence structures. In: Defeo, O. (Ed.), Diversity and Distributions. 19(10), pp. 1275–1283. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12079.
- Froidefond, J.-M., Jegou, A.M., Hermida, J., Lazure, P., Castaing, P., 1998. Variabilité du panache turbide de la Gironde par télédétection. Effets des facteurs climatiques. Oceanol. Acta 21 (2), 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0399-1784(98)80008-X.
- Gao, J., Kennedy, D.M., Konlechner, T.M., 2020. Coastal dune mobility over the past century: a global review. Prog. Phys. Geogr. Earth Environ. 44 (6), 814–836. https://doi.org/10. 1177/0309133320919612.
- Garel, E., Bonne, W., Collins, M.B., 2009. Offshore sand and gravel mining. All Days. Offshore Technology Conference. OTC, Houston, Texas https://doi.org/10.4043/4495-MS (p. OTC-4495-MS).
- Gedan, K.B., Silliman, B.R., Bertness, M.D., 2009. Centuries of human-driven change in salt marsh ecosystems. Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci. 1, 117–141.
- Godet, L., Pourinet, L., Joyeux, E., Verger, F., 2015. Dynamique spatiale et usage des schorres de l'Anse de l'Aiguillon de 1705 à nos jours. Enjeux de conservation d'un patrimoine naturel littoral marin. Cybergeo Eur. J. Geogr. https://doi.org/10.4000/cybergeo.26774.
- Goeldner-Gianella, Lydie. "Perceptions and Attitudes Toward De-Polderisation in Europe: A Comparison of Five Opinion Surveys in France and the UK." Journal of Coastal Research, vol. 23, no. 5, 2007, pp. 1218–30. JSTOR, http://www.jstor.org/stable/4496137.

- Goeldner-Gianella, L., 2010. Changement climatique et dépoldérisation: le rôle des acteurs et le poids des représentations sociales sur les côtes d'Europe atlantique. Quaderni 71 (1), 41–60. https://doi.org/10.4000/quaderni.527.
- Goeldner-Gianella, L., Bertrand, F., Oiry, A., Grancher, D., 2015. Depolderization policy against coastal flooding and social acceptability on the French Atlantic coast: the case of the Arcachon Bay. Ocean Coast. Manag. 116, 98–107.
- Goulletquer, P., Le Moine, O., 2002. Shellfish farming and coastal zone management (CZM) development in the Marennes-Oléron Bay and Charentais sounds (Charente maritime, France): a review of recent developments. Aquac. Int. 10 (6), 507–525. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/A:1023975418669.
- Guérin, T., Bertin, X., Coulombier, T., de Bakker, A., 2018. Impacts of wave-induced circulation in the surf zone on wave setup. Ocean Model. 123, 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ocemod.2018.01.006.
- Gutiérrez-Zugasti, I., Andersen, S.H., Araújo, A.C., Dupont, C., Milner, N., Monge-Soares, A.M., 2011. Shell midden research in Atlantic Europe: state of the art, research problems and perspectives for the future. Quat. Int. 239 (1–2), 70–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. quaint.2011.02.031.
- Hallermeier, R.J. (1980) 'A profile zonation for seasonal sand beaches from wave climate', Coast. Eng., 4, pp. 253–277. doi:https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-3839 (80)90022-8.
- Hamon-Kerivel, K., Cooper, A., Jackson, D., Sedrati, M., Pintado, E.G., 2020. Shoreface mesoscale morphodynamics: a review. Earth Sci. Rev. 209, 103330. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.earscirev.2020.103330.
- Healy, T., Wang, Y., Healy, J.A. (Eds.), 2002. Muddy Coasts of the World: Processes, Deposits and Function. Elsevier.
- Hily, C., 1977. Caractéristique et originalités du Benthos des Pertuis Charentais. J. Rech. Oceanogr. 2 (4), 31–38.
- Howard, J., Hoyt, S., Isensee, K., Telszewski, M., Pidgeon, E., 2014. Coastal Blue Carbon: Methods for Assessing Carbon Stocks and Emissions Factors in Mangroves, Tidal Salt Marshes, and Seagrasses. (180p)Conservation International, intergovernmental oceanographic commission of UNESCO, International Union for Conservation of nature, Arlington, VA, USA.
- Huguet, J.-R., Bertin, X., Arnaud, G., 2018. Managed realignment to mitigate storm-induced flooding: a case study in La Faute-Sur-mer, France. Coast. Eng. 134, 168–176. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2017.08.010.
- Idier, D., Pedreros, R., Oliveros, C., Sottolichio, A., Choppin, L., Bertin, X., 2006. Respective contributions of currents and swell to the sediment mobility in an internal estuarine platform. Example of the inner shelf seaward of the 'pertuis Charentais', France. C.R Geosci. 338, 718–726.
- 'Coastal systems and low-lying areas', in climate change 2014 Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: Part a: Global and sectoral aspects. In: IPCC (Ed.), Working Group II Contribution to the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report: Volume 1: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 361–410 https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9781107415379.010.
- IPCC, 2022. The Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate: Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press https://doi. org/10.1017/9781009157964.
- Jacquemont, J., Blasiak, R., Le Cam, C., Le Gouellec, M., Claudet, J., 2022. Ocean conservation boosts climate change mitigation and adaptation. One Earth 5 (10), 1126–1138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2022.09.002.
- Jalón-Rojas, I., Sottolichio, A., Hanquiez, V., Fort, A., Schmidt, S., 2018. To what extent multidecadal changes in morphology and fluvial discharge impact tide in a convergent (turbid) Tidal River. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 123 (5), 3241–3258. https://doi.org/10. 1002/2017JC013466.
- Jouanneau, J.M., Weber, O., Cremer, M., Castaing, P., 1999. Fine-grained sediment budget on the continental margin of the Bay of Biscay. Deep-Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 46 (10), 2205–2220. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0967-0645(99)00060-0.
- Kasmi, A., Abriak, N.E., Benzerzour, M., Azrar, H., 2017. Effect of dewatering by the addition of flocculation aid on Treated River sediments for valorization in road construction. Waste and Biomass Valorization 8, 585–597.
- Kervella, S., 2009. Dynamique des sédiments fins et mixtes des zones intertidales de la Baie de Marennes-Oléron. Caractérisation des sédiments, processus hydro-sédimentaires et modélisation appliquée. (Doctoral dissertation)Université de La Rochelle.
- Kneib, R.T., 1997. The role of tidal marshes in the ecology of estuarine nekton. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 35, 163–220.
- Komar, P., 1976. Beach Processes and Sedimentation. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 030913337800200121.
- Kuenzer, C., Renaud, F.G., 2012. Climate and Environmental Change in River Deltas Globally: Expected Impacts, Resilience, and Adaptation. p. 41.
- Lafon, S., 2017. Un accord pour la biodiversité marine: le cas du parc naturel marin de l'estuaire de la Gironde et de la mer des Pertuis. VertigO V17 (1). https://doi.org/10. 4000/vertigo.18487.
- Le Hir, P., Kervella, S., Walker, P., Brenon, I., 2010. Érosions, dépôts et transits sédimentaires associés dans le bassin de Marennes-Oléron. La Houille Blanche, Revue internationale de l'eau 96 (5), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1051/lhb/2010056.
- Le Treut, H., 2013. Les impacts du changement climatique en Aquitaine. Presses universitaire de Bordeaux.
- Lericolais, G., Berné, S., Féniès, H., 2001. Seaward pinching out and internal stratigraphy of the Gironde incised valley on the shelf (Bay of Biscay). Mar. Geol. 175 (1–4), 183–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-3227(01)00134-7.
- Lesueur, P., Tastet, J.P., 1994. Facies, internal structures and sequences of modern Girondederived muds on the Aquitaine inner shelf, France. Mar. Geol. 120 (3–4), 267–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-3227(94)90062-0.
- Lesueur, P., Tastet, J.P., Marambat, L., 1996. Shelf mud fields formation within historical times: examples from offshore the Gironde estuary, France. Cont. Shelf Res. 16 (14), 1849–1870. https://doi.org/10.1016/0278-4343(96)00013-1.

- Lesueur, P., Tastet, J.P., Weber, O., 2002. Origin and morphosedimentary evolution of fin grained modern continental shelf deposits: the Gironde mud fields (Bay of Biscay, France). Sedimentology 49.
- Levêque, F., 1936. In: Imprimerie Demas (Ed.), Bordeaux et l'estuaire girondin. 7(4), pp. 382–391. https://doi.org/10.3406/rgpso.1936.4238.
- Mallet, C., Howa, H., Garlan, T., Sottolichio, A., Le Hir, P., Michel, D., 2000. Utilisation of numerical and statistical techniques to describe sedimentary circulation patterns in the mouth of the Gironde estuary. C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. IIA Earth Planet. Sci. 331, 491–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1251-8050(00)01437-3.
- Martínez, M.L., Psuty, N.P. (Eds.), 2008. Coastal Dunes: Ecology and Conservation. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- Mathé, V., Tranoy, L., Druez, M., Leveque, F., Miailhe, V., Pouget, F., 2020. Quid du port romain estuarien de Barzan (Charente-Maritime)? Gallia, Archéologie des Gaules 77 (1), 279–290. https://doi.org/10.4000/gallia.5623.
- Mazaris, A.D., Kallimanis, A., Gissi, E., Pipitone, C., Danovaro, R., Claudet, J., ... Fraschetti, S., 2019. Threats to marine biodiversity in European protected areas. Sci. Total Environ. 677, 418–426.
- McLachlan, A., Defeo, O., Jaramillo, E., Short, A.D., 2013. Sandy beach conservation and recreation: guidelines for optimising management strategies for multi-purpose use. Ocean Coast. Manag. 71, 256–268.
- Mercaldo-Allen, R., Goldberg, R., 2011. Review of the Ecological Effects of Dredging in the Cultivation and Harvest of Molluscan Shellfish. p. 84.
- Nelson, J.L., Zavaleta, E.S., 2012. Salt marsh as a coastal filter for the oceans: changes in function with experimental increases in nitrogen loading and sea-level rise. PLoS One 7 (8), 14.

Nordstrom, K.F., 2021. Beach nourishment and impacts. Beach and Dune Restoration, 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 26–64 https://doi.org/10.1017/ 9781108866453.003.

- Oberle, F.K.J., Storlazzi, C.D., Hanebuth, T.J., 2015. What a drag: quantifying the global impact of chronic bottom trawling on continental shelf sediment. J. Mar. Syst. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2015.12.007.
- Orth, R.J., Carruthers, T.J., Dennison, W.C., Duarte, C.M., Fourqurean, J.W., Heck, K.L., ... Williams, S.L., 2006. A global crisis for seagrass ecosystems. BioScience 56 (12), 987. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2006)56[987:AGCFSE]2.0.CO;2.
- OSPAR, 1998. Sintra Statement, adopted by the Ministerial Meeting of the OSPAR Commission at Sintra, Portugal, on 22–23 July 1998. cf. Summary record, ANNEX 45 (Ref. § B-10.2). Available online at: □www.ospar.org□
- OSPAR commission, 2008. Assessment of environmental impact of land reclamation. London, UK. Annex V of the 1992 OSPAR convention: "on the protection and conservation of the ecosystems and biological diversity of the maritime area", adopted by the ministerial meeting of the OSPAR commission, Sintra, Portugal (1998).
- Ouyang, X., Lee, S.Y., 2020. Improved estimates on global carbon stock and carbon pools in tidal wetlands. Nat. Commun. 11 (1), 317. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-14120-2.
- Papy, L., 1935. 'Brouage et ses marais', Revue géographique des Pyrénées et du Sud-Ouest. Sud-Ouest Européen 6 (4), 281–323.
- Pawlowski, A., 1998. Géographie historique des côtes charentaises (ainsi que Médoc et Bas-Poitou). Croit Vif.
- Peduzzi, P., 2014. 'Sand, rarer than one thinks', United Nations environment Programme (UNEP). Environ. Dev. 11, 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2014.04.001.
- Pezerat, M., 2022. Étude de la dynamique hydro-sédimentaire de la zone pré-littorale (Doctoral dissertation, La Rochelle).
- Pezerat, M., Bertin, X., Martins, K., Lavaud, L., 2022. Cross-shore distribution of the waveinduced circulation over a Dissipative Beach under storm wave conditions. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 127 (3). https://doi.org/10.1029/2021JC018108 (p. e2021JC018108).
- Poate, T., Masselink, G., Austin, M.J., Dickson, M., McCall, R., 2018. The role of bed roughness in wave transformation across sloping rock shore platforms: bed roughness on wave transformation. J. Geophys. Res. Earth Surface 123 (1), 97–123. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/2017JF004277.
- Poirier, C., Sauriau, P.G., Chaumillon, E., Bertin, X., 2010. Influence of hydro-sedimentary factors on mollusk death assemblages in a temperate mixed tide-and-wave dominated coastal environment: implications for the fossil record. Cont. Shelf Res. 30 (17), 1876–1890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2010.08.015.
- Poirier, C., Chaumillon, E., Arnaud, F., 2011. Siltation of river-influenced coastal environments: respective impact of late Holocene land use and high-frequency climate changes. Mar. Geol. 290 (1–4), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.margeo.2011.10.008.
- Poirier, C., Poitevin, C., Chaumillon, E., 2016. Comparison of estuarine sediment record with modelled rates of sediment supply from a western European catchment since 1500. Compt. Rendus Geosci. 348 (7), 479–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crte.2015.02.009.
- Poirier, C., Tessier, B., Chaumillon, E., 2017a. Climate control on late Holocene high-energy sedimentation along coasts of the northeastern Atlantic Ocean. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 485 (b), 784–797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2017. 07.037.
- Poirier, C., Tessier, B., Chaumillon, E., Bertin, X., Fruergaard, M., Mouazé, D., ... Wöppelmann, G., 2017b. Decadal changes in North Atlantic atmospheric circulation patterns recorded by sand spits since 1800 CE. Geomorphology 281 (a), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. geomorph.2016.12.028.

Pontee, N., 2013. Defining coastal squeeze: A discussion. Ocean Coast. Manag. 84, 204–207. Pontee, N., Tastet, J.-P., Masse, L., 1998. Morpho-sedimentary evidence of Holocene coastal

Pontee, N., Tastet, J.-P., Masse, L., 1998. Morpho-sedimentary evidence of Holocene coastal changes near the mouth of the Gironde and on the Medoc peninsula, SW France. Oceanol. Acta 21 (2), 243–261.

- Populus, J., Barreau, G., Fazilleau, J., Kerdreux, M., L'Yavanc, J., 2001. Assessment of the Lidar topographic technique over a coastal area. CoastGIS 1 (p 4th).
- Pörtner, H. O., Roberts, D. C., Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Tignor, M., Poloczanska, E., ... and Weyer, N. (2019) 'IPCC Special Report on the Ocean Cryosphere in a Changing Climate'. IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Geneva, Switzerland, vol. 1(3).
- Pupiez-Dauchez, S., 2008. Le rechargement sédimentaire des plages charentaises et vendéennes: vers une gestion globale du littoral? Colloque international pluridisciplinaire Le littoral: subir, dire, agir. Lille, 16, 17, 18 janvier 2008. https://halshs.archivesouvertes.fr/halshs-00335430
- Sauriau, P.-G., Pichocki-Seyfried, C., Walker, P., De Montaudouin, X., Palud, C., Héral, M., 1998. Crepidula fornicata L. (mollusque, gastéropode) en baie de Marennes-Oléron: cartographie des fonds par sonar à balayage latéral et estimation du stock. Oceanol. Acta 21 (2), 353–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0399-1784(98)80022-4.
- Sauzeau, T., Péret, J., 2014. Xynthia ou La mémoire retrouvée: villages charentais et vendéens face à la mer (XVIIe-XXIe siècle). Geste édition.
- Savelli, R., Bertin, X., Orvain, F., Gernez, P., Dale, A., Coulombier, T., ... Le Fouest, V., 2019. Impact of chronic and massive resuspension mechanisms on the Microphytobenthos dynamics in a temperate intertidal mudflat. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci. 124 (12), 3752–3777. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JG005369.
- Schäfer, J., Blanc, G., Lapaquellerie, Y., Maillet, N., Maneux, E., Etcheber, H., 2002. Ten-year observation of the Gironde tributary fluvial system: fluxes of suspended matter, particulate organic carbon and cadmium. Mar. Chem. 79 (3–4), 229–242. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0304.4203(02)00066-X.
- Soga, M., Gaston, K.J., 2018. Shifting baseline syndrome: cause, consequences, and implications. Front. Ecol. Environ. 16. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1794.
- Sornin, J.-M., 1981. Influences des Installations Conchylicoles sur l'Hydrologie et sur la Morphologie des Fonds. Revue des travaux de l'Institut des pêches maritimes 45 (2), 127–139.
- Sottolichio, A., Hanquiez, V., Périnotto, H., Sabouraud, L., Weber, O., 2013. Evaluation of the recent morphological evolution of the Gironde estuary through the use of some preliminary synthetic indicators. J. Coast. Res. 65, 1224–1229. https://doi.org/10.2112/SI65-207.1.
- Stauber, J.L., Chariton, A., Apte, S., 2016. Global change. Marine Ecotoxicology. Elsevier, pp. 273–313 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803371-5.00010-2.
- Strady, E., Kervella, S., Blanc, G., Robert, S., Stanisière, J.Y., Coynel, A., Schäfer, J., 2011. Spatial and temporal variations in trace metal concentrations in surface sediments of the Marennes Oléron Bay. Relation to hydrodynamic forcing. Cont. Shelf Res. 31 (9), 997–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2011.03.006.
- Thrush, S.F., Hewitt, J.E., Cummings, V.J., Ellis, J.I., Hatton, C., Lohrer, A., Norkko, A.J.F.I.E., 2004. Muddy waters: elevating sediment input to coastal and estuarine habitats. Front. Ecol. Environ. 2 (6), 299–306.
- Toublanc, F., Brenon, I., Coulombier, T., Le Moine, O., 2015. Fortnightly tidal asymmetry inversions and perspectives on sediment dynamics in a macrotidal estuary (Charente, France). Cont. Shelf Res. 94, 42–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2014.12.009.
- Toublanc, F., Brenon, I., Coulombier, T., 2016. Formation and structure of the turbidity maximum in the macrotidal Charente estuary (France): influence of fluvial and tidal forcing. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 169, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2015.11.019.
- Townend, I., Pethick, J., 2002. Estuarine flooding and managed retreat. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 360 (1796), 1477–1495.
- Van Maanen, B., Sottolichio, A., 2018. Hydro- and sediment dynamics in the Gironde estuary (France): sensitivity to seasonal variations in river inflow and sea level rise. Cont. Shelf Res. 165, 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2018.06.001.
- Van Rijn, L.C., Soulsby, R.L., Hoekstra, P., Davies, A.G., 2005. SANDPIT: Sand Transport and MORPHLOGY of Offshore Sand Mining Pits.
- Verger, F., 2005. 'Marais et estuaires du littoral français.', Paris, Belin, 300 p. (ISBN 2–7011– 3339-4), 49(138). , pp. 435–436 https://doi.org/10.7202/012568ar.
- Wang, K.-H., Shen, Q., 1999. Wave motion over a group of submerged horizontal plates. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 37 (6), 703–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7225(98)00094-9.
- Weber, N., Chaumillon, E., 2004. Long term evolution of sandwaves in estuaries demonstrated by active, intermediate and *moribund sandwaves* of the French Atlantic coast (Charentemaritime). Marine Sandwaves and River Dune Dynamics II, International Workshop. SHOM, University of Twente-The Netherland, pp. 314–321.
- Weber, N., Chaumillon, E., Tesson, M., 2004a. Enregistrement de la dernière remontée du niveau marin dans l'architecture interne d'une vallée incisée: le pertuis Breton (Charente-Maritime). Compt. Rendus Geosci. 336 (14), 1273–1282. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.crte.2004.07.007.
- Weber, N., Chaumillon, E., Tesson, M., Garlan, T., 2004b. Architecture and morphology of the outer segment of a mixed tide and wave-dominated-incised valley, revealed by HR seismic reflection profiling: the paleo-Charente River, France. Mar. Geol. 207 (1–4), 17–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.margeo.2004.04.001.
- Williams, A.T., Rangel-Buitrago, N., Pranzini, E., Anfuso, G., 2018. The management of coastal erosion. Ocean Coast. Manag. 156, 4–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman. 2017.03.022.
- Winterwerp, J.C., Wang, Z.B., Van Braeckel, A., Van Holland, G., Kösters, F., 2013. Maninduced regime shifts in small estuaries—II: a comparison of rivers. Ocean Dyn. 63 (11), 1293–1306.
- Yang, Z., Wang, T., Voisin, N., Copping, A., 2015. Estuarine response to river flow and sealevel rise under future climate change and human development. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 156, 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2014.08.015.